Audit Committee

Notice of a Meeting, to be held in the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford, Kent TN23 1PL on Thursday 21st April 2011 at 7.00 pm

The Members of this Committee are:-

Cllr. Wallace (Chairman) Cllr. Ellison (Vice-Chairman)

Cllrs. Feacey, Koowaree, Mrs Laughton, Link, Smith, Taylor

Portfolio Holder: Cllr. Wood

NB: Under the Council's Public Participation Scheme, members of the public can submit a petition to the Executive if the issue is within its terms of reference or ask a question or speak concerning any item contained on this Agenda (Procedure Rule 9 refers)

Agenda

Page Nos.

- 1. **Apologies/Substitutes** – To receive Notification of Substitutes in accordance with Procedure Rule 1.2(iii)
- 2. **Declarations of Interest** - Declarations of Interest under the Code of Conduct adopted by the Council on the 24th May 2007 relating to items on this agenda should be made here. The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must also be declared
- 3. Minutes – To approve the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on the 1st February 2011

Part I – For Decision

CLG Consultation - The Future of Local Public Audit (including the role of 4. Audit Committees) To Follow

Part II – Monitoring/Information Items

None	
KL 13 th April 2011	

Telephone: 01233 330349 Email: danny.sheppard@ashford.gov.uk Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.gov.uk/committees

Queries concerning this agenda? Please contact Danny Sheppard:



Audit Committee

Minutes of a Meeting of the Audit Committee held in the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford on the 1st February 2011

Present:

Cllr. Taylor (Chairman);

Cllr. Ellison (Vice Chairman);

Cllrs. Feacey, Koowaree, Mrs Laughton, Link, Smith.

Apology:

Cllr. Wood.

Also Present:

Cllrs. Cowley, Davison, Packham

Deputy Chief Executive, Head of Internal Audit Partnership, Audit Partnership Manager, Finance Manager, Corporate Business Change & Efficiency Manager, Policy & Performance Officer, Senior Member Services & Scrutiny Support Officer.

Andy Mack – Audit Commission.

355 Election of Chairman

In the absence of the Chairman and with the Vice-Chairman due to arrive late, the Committee was informed that there was a need to elect a Chairman for this Meeting from the Members present. Upon his election the Chairman advised of a change to the order of business of the Meeting.

Resolved:

That Councillor Taylor be elected as Chairman for this Meeting of the Audit Committee.

356 Minutes

Resolved:

That the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on the 14th December 2010 be approved and confirmed as a correct record.

357 Action Points from the Review of the Audit Committee by Local Government Improvement & Development (LGID)

The Chairman introduced the report and said that the informal session that had been held on the 19th January had been extremely useful in taking this issue forward. The six proposed action points were outlined in the report with comments against each one, and the Committee was asked to consider each one in turn.

Risk reports need enhancing

Members agreed that it was extremely important that the Committee was conscious of risks and risk management and this was not something that was allowed to slip.

Committee could expand its governance assurance role to cover partnerships

The Committee agreed this something that may currently be lacking and it was important that this was not allowed to "slip between two stalls".

<u>Audit Committee should produce an annual report of its activities and</u> effectiveness

An annual report was agreed as a good tool to be able to inform colleagues and Officers what the Committee was doing. The format of this should be something for the new Audit Committee to decide after the Elections, but it was considered that any report should be as brief, succinct and to the point as possible.

Skills assessment and further development for Members

Members agreed this would be extremely important for the next Committee bearing in mind there could be a number of new Members. It was explained that this would not be about excluding individuals from being on the Committee if they did not have certain skills, but making sure that those who were put on to the Committee were as informed and supported as they could be. The idea of externally provided training was supported as was the continuation of the pre-Committee briefings which were considered invaluable.

Council could consider appointing co-opted non-voting Members

It was explained that this was being left for the new Committee to decide because they would have to work with the potential Members and it would be clearer what skill gaps there were once the new Committee was up and running. There were also process and constitutional issues to consider and these would be outlined in a report to be submitted to the Committee in April.

Greater promotion of the role of the Audit Committee across the Council

Members agreed it was important that everybody knew what both the Committee and Internal Audit did.

Resolved:

That the six Action Points above be agreed and moved forward.

358 Audit Commission's Proposed Audit Plan for the 2010/2011 Audit

The report from the District Auditor set out the proposed work plan and fee arrangement for the external audit covering 2010/11. Andy Mack explained that the plan contained two elements: - the audit of 2010/2011 Financial Statements; and the statutory Value for Money conclusion covering 2010/11. There was no other planned external audit activity. The financial statements audit would, in particular, examine the Council's compliance with the new International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as well as further improvements made to the accounts and supporting processes recommended from the last audit. The report also outlined the proposed audit fee for the year of £139,500, which was a reduction of around £9,000 against the original estimate, and within the Council's proposed budget. He reminded the Committee of the need, as in previous years, to provide a written assurance regarding the Council's compliance with International Auditing Standards by 31st March 2011.

With regard to the future of the Audit Commission, Andy Mack explained that they were still awaiting draft legislation from CLG but the preferred option remained to become a staff run mutual organisation operating in the private sector. The future position should be clearer by March, but in the meantime they would continue to work with the Council as they had previously.

In response to questions Andy Mack said that the Council was working well in terms of preparing for IFRS. All matters appeared to be in hand and he was encouraged by what the Council was doing.

Members asked for their best wishes to be given to Debbie Moorhouse (Engagement Manager at the Audit Commission) ahead of her period of Maternity Leave.

Resolved:

That the District Auditor's proposed 2010/2011 Audit Plan be noted.

359 Presentation of Financial Statements

The Finance Manager introduced the report which followed on from the last item and explained that the Council was required to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). It updated on the progress being made for the transition to those new standards which was progressing well in all areas and was due to be reviewed by auditors during February. The key areas of focus were on embedded leases and lease arrangements for property and a key area of uncertainty was component accounting in the Housing Revenue Account, where further guidance was awaited. A new template for the statement of accounts incorporating the necessary changes had been produced. The general feeling at present, following meetings with auditors, appeared to be that the process and supporting papers were much improved and there was good progress towards adopting IFRS. With regard to the new template it was quite long (over 100 pages) so the Committee may wish to consider how it wanted to deal with the consideration of this.

Members considered that it would be beneficial if perhaps two Members were nominated to analyse the new template document with the Finance Manager and report back to the Committee, rather than all Members going through it. In terms of timing, the Finance Manager said that it would be better to do this as soon as possible to avoid going too far down a potentially wrong road. It was agreed that Councillors Smith and Taylor would take on this role. The Finance Manager said he would be pleased to email the template to any other Member who was interested.

In response to questions about the rigidity of all of the elements of IFRS the Finance Manager said that some elements were open to interpretation and Ashford's own circumstances could be applied where relevant. Andy Mack agreed and said that, particularly considering this was year one, there was room for common sense and, as with any system, there was a need to be flexible and pragmatic and consider materiality.

Resolved:

- That (i) the report be received and noted.
 - (ii) Councillors Smith and Taylor be nominated as lead Members to review the draft template and closing process, and report back to the Committee.

360 Corporate Performance Report (to November 2010) and Direction of Travel

The Policy & Performance Officer introduced the report which measured the performance of the Council to the end of November 2010 and had been considered by the Executive in January 2011. Performance as measured by the current batch of external and internal indicators remained strong, although there were some indicators of short to medium-term pressures in areas directly related to external demand for services. The report also explained that the Council was current drawing up a reshaped Performance Management Framework, to demonstrate delivery of the Business Plan and to allow Management Team to actively consider any issues related to the internal running of the Council. He explained there would be a further update report in April and he was happy to take suggestions from Members about what information would be useful and how they would like to see information presented in future reports.

Resolved:

- That (i) the performance of the Council between July and November 2010, as presented on the previously agreed exceptions basis, be noted.
 - (ii) it be noted that the Executive are to receive full proposals on a new Performance Management Framework for the Council,

incorporating those elements detailed in the Direction of Travel, in time for implementation from the 2011-12 financial year.

361 Annual Governance Statement – Progress on Remedying Exceptions for 2009-2010

The Policy & Performance Officer introduced the report which was the final quarterly update on the progress that had been made so far this year in remedying the governance exceptions in the Annual Governance Statement for 2009/10. The only remaining outstanding issue was Partnership Working and progress against this governance issue was noted. The Chairman considered that this issue was clearly on the radar of both Internal Audit and the Committee and was one that should not be lost sight of.

Resolved:

That the progress to date on resolving the governance exceptions identified in the 2009-2010 Annual Governance Statement be noted.

362 Report Tracker & Future Meetings

Resolved:

That the report be received and noted.

363 Date of Additional Meeting

It was explained that an additional Meeting of this Committee was required in April before the Elections, to round off this Committee's four-year cycle.

Resolved:

That an additional Meeting of this Committee be held on Thursday 21st April 2011.

Queries concerning these Minutes? Please contact Danny Sheppard: Telephone: 01233 330349 Email: danny.sheppard@ashford.gov.uk Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.gov.uk/committees

Agenda Item No: 4

AUDIT COMMITTEE Report To:

Date: 21 April 2011

Future of local public audit – consultation **Report Title:**

Report Authors: Brian Parsons - Head of Internal Audit Partnership

Paul Naylor - Deputy Chief Executive

The Department of Communities and Local Government Summary:

> (DCLG) is currently seeking responses to a consultation paper, 'Future of Local Public Audit'. The paper sets out the Government vision of the arrangements that will replace the current public audit arrangements currently provided through

the Audit Commission.

Members are asked to consider the proposals set out in the consultation paper and to provide a steer for officers to prepare a draft response to the DCLG. There would be further consultation with Members in June, prior to the

response being finalised.

Please note that due to time constraints this report focuses only on the main impacts of the proposals and does not provide comments on all the questions in the consultation paper. Comments relating to all questions will be available

for the meeting.

Key Decision: NO

Affected Wards: Not applicable

The Audit Committee is asked to give consideration to Recommendations:

the consultation paper on the Future of Local Public Audit and to agree a steer for officers to prepare a draft response for further consultation with Members in June.

Policy Overview: Not applicable

YES

Financial None directly

Implications:

Risk Assessment

Equalities Impact

Assessment

NO

Other Material Implications:

The proposals within the consultation document would lead to changes in the provision of external audit and the role of the

Audit Committee within a statutory framework.

Background Papers:

Future of Local Public Audit – consultation – Department of

Communities and Local Government

Future of Local Public Audit – briefing note - LG Futures

Contacts: Brian.parsons@ashford.gov.uk - Tel: (01233) 330442

Report Title: Future of local public audit - consultation

Purpose of the Report

1. The report and the attachment provide details of the consultation currently being conducted by the Department of Communities and Local Government on the future of local public audit. The Committee is being asked to consider the proposals and to provide a steer to officers to prepare a draft response from the council to the consultation.

Issue to be Decided

- 2. The consultation paper sets out the proposals for the future provision of external audit services to local government and other bodies following the decision to abolish the Audit Commission. The paper includes proposals relating to the future of audit committees. The consultation closes on 30 June 2011.
- 3. The Council is one of a whole range or organisations currently receiving an audit service from the Audit Commission that have been invited to respond on the proposals and the questions set out within the consultation paper.
- 4. There are 50 questions within the consultation paper. Some of the questions and proposals are quite technical in nature. This paper covers the more fundamental proposals of the scope of audit, the role of audit committees, and impacts for the audit of parish councils. Members are being asked therefore to direct particular attention to these issues. A paper containing comments covering all of the consultation questions is currently being prepared and will be circulated separately. Members' consideration of the consultation proposals at this stage is aimed at providing a steer for officers to prepare a draft response for further consultation with members in June.

Background

- 5. On 13 August 2010, The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government announced plans to disband the Audit Commission and "re-focus audit on helping local people hold their councils and other local bodies to account for local spending decisions".
- 6. The announcement contained the following overall intentions and policy aims:
 - ➤ To disband the Audit Commission and transfer the work of the Audit Commission's in-house audit practice to the private sector.
 - To enable local authorities to appoint their own independent external auditors.
 - > To provide a new framework for the audit of local health bodies
- 7. The Department of Communities and Local Government issued a consultation paper on 1 April 2011. The consultation paper closes on 30 June 2011.

8. The complete consultation paper is shown at Appendix 1.

The Coalition Government's proposals

- 9. To require the National Audit Office to prepare Codes of audit practice, which prescribe the way in which auditors are to carry out their functions. Such Codes of practice will continue to be approved by Parliament. (This function is currently the responsibility of the Audit Commission).
- 10. To require the accountancy professional bodies, under the supervision of the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), to be responsible for the registration of audit firms, individual auditors able to undertake public audit and for the monitoring and enforcement of audit standards. (The FRC currently has this role for private sector audit work).
- 11. Principal local authorities, defined as those with annual income and expenditure over £6.5million, would appoint their own auditors with decisions made by full Council, taking into account the advice from a new independently chaired audit committee.
- 12. Smaller public bodies (e.g. parish councils) with annual income and expenditure below £6.5million would be subject to different audit requirements, an independent examination (typical of the audit arrangements for small charities and the like). These are set out in Section 5 of the consultation paper. Of particular note is the proposal for county councils rather than district councils (in the case of 'two-tier' areas) to maintain oversight of the appointment of independent examiners.
- 13. Local authority pension funds, in their own capacity, will be subject to the new local public audit framework, as opposed to being part of the external audit of the responsible authority (the county council in our case).
- 14. Local bodies will be able to commission additional services from their auditors, for example, value for money studies. However there will no longer be national studies in which local bodies must participate.
- 15. Grant certification, the National Fraud Initiative and the auditor function of the 'Whole of Government Accounts' returns will continue "in some form", but are not considered in detail in this consultation paper.

Consultation Questions

16. The consultation paper sets out fifty questions covering the range of its intentions for Local Public Audit. The questions are shown in full at Section 6 (page 56) of the consultation paper (Appendix 1). A separate paper will be circulated with comments covering all of the questions.

Regulation of local public audit

17. The Audit Commission is currently responsible for setting audit standards through Codes of practice for local government (and health) bodies. Clearly, once the Commission has been abolished, there is a requirement for local public audit to be regulated differently. The consultation papers discusses

- how other sectors regulate audit work and then makes a series of recommendations as to the future for local public audit.
- 18. The National Audit Office would develop and maintain codes of audit practice and any supporting guidance. Any codes of practice will require parliamentary approval as under the current system.
- 19. The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) will regulate who can undertake local public audit work through a system that is similar to the private sector, which is also regulated by the FRC. The new regulatory system will be set out in primary legislation.
- 20. It is proposed that there will be a list (referred to as the register of local public statutory auditors elsewhere in the consultation paper) of audit firms who are recognised as qualified to undertake public audit work. The list could be kept by the Recognised Supervisory Bodies (the main accounting bodies) or another body.
- 21. The consultation paper states that the costs of the new regulatory regime will be passed on to individual audit firms, who may wish to recover such costs as part of their audit fee.

Commissioning local public audit services

- 22. The consultation paper proposes that all larger local public bodies (defined as those with income/expenditure over £6.5million as in the revised Accounts and Audit Regulations) will be able to appoint its own auditor. The appointed auditor must be on the register of local public statutory auditors.
- 23. The appointment will be made by Full Council, on the advice of an audit committee with opportunities for the electorate to make an input.
- 24. The consultation paper recognises that individual bodies might wish to cooperate on the appointment of an auditor and so it is proposed that the legislation should allow both joint procurement of audit services and joint audit committees (for the appointment).
- 25. To ensure that the relationship between a council and the auditor does not become too close, a system of rotation is proposed (a system of rotation is used currently). The auditor would be reappointed annually by the full council on the advice of the audit committee, but the audited body must undertake a competitive appointment process within five years. The council can, if it wishes, re-appoint the existing external auditor for a further five year period, but must appoint a different audit firm at the end of the second five year period.

Proposals for new Audit Committees

26. There is currently no legal requirement for an Audit Committee and, therefore, no requirements of who should be part of the committee, its role and responsibilities etc.

- 27. The proposals within the consultation paper would make an Audit Committee a statutory requirement. A possible, potentially statutory structure is set out. Adoption of the structure would have a radical impact on the way that the Ashford Audit Committee is constituted and operated.
- 28. The possible structure is based on a review of audit and accountability in central government carried out in 2001. The consultation paper's preferred structure is set out below:
 - Audit committee chairs and vice-chairs would both be independent of the local public body (i.e. not elected members).
 - ➤ Elected members on the audit committee should be non-executive, noncabinet members sourced from the audited body. At least one should have recent and relevant financial experience, but with a recommendation that a third of the members have recent and relevant financial experience where possible.
 - ➤ There would be a majority of members of the committee who are nonelected to the local public body.
- 29. Members may wish to give particular consideration to this proposal and in particular the proposal that the chair, the vice chair and the majority of members would not be elected members.
- 30. However, an important and related point concerns the future role for a new audit committee. The consultation paper contains two options:

Option One: There would be only one mandatory duty for an audit committee, which would be to provide advice to the council on the engagement and resignation or removal of the auditor. It would then be at the discretion of the council to decide whether or not the committee has any other function or duty.

Option Two: There would be a much more detailed mandatory role for the audit committee, possibly including providing advice on the procurement and selection of an auditor, ensuring effective relations between internal and external audit and reviewing audit reports and quality. Under this option the audit committee would report annually to the full council on its activities during the year.

- 31. The proposals for both the constitution and role of a new audit committee may need to be considered together by members in the context of the wider arrangements for maintaining oversight of the council's governance and performance. It is also timely that this audit committee has received feedback about its role and effectiveness as part of the review carried out for the four councils in the partnership.
- 32. At present Option two relating to a possible mandatory role for the committee would sit well with this committee's current terms of reference, save that currently there is no requirement for the committee to prepare an annual report. Members will recall this was one change the committee recommended for consideration by the new council.

- 33. Option two may not have great impacts for other parts of the council's democratic process.
- 34. Option one above, however, may need to see a large part of this committee's work handled elsewhere if its role is restricted to recommending the appointment, or dismissal of the external auditor. If the council chose to use its discretion to restrict the role of the Audit Committee, then overseeing external and internal audit work, reviewing governance and risk would all need to be handled by other parts of the council's governance arrangements (including Overview and Scrutiny, and the Executive).
- 35. Decisions about the extent of the audit committee's future role once legislation is passed must be taken by the full council, following consideration therefore of the wider constitutional implications, including consideration of the full role of non-elected members.

Scope of external audit and the work of external auditors

36. Currently, public sector bodies are subject to audit with a wider scope than in the private sector, including, for example, value for money and legality issues. The consultation paper presents four possible options for the scope of the external audit of councils. These are:

Option one: The scope of the audit would become similar to private companies with the auditor giving an opinion on the financial statements and review and report on other information published with the financial statements. There would be no assessment of value for money under this option.

Option two: The scope would be similar to the current system in local government, with auditors providing an opinion of the financial statements, concluding as to whether there were proper arrangements to secure value for money and review and report on other information including the annual governance statement.

Option three: New arrangements to provide stronger assurances on regularity and propriety, financial resilience and value for money.

Option four: A new requirement for councils to prepare and publish an annual report, which would be reviewed by the auditor with them providing reasonable assurance on the annual report.

- 37. A reduction in the scope of external audit could mean that some of the elements (such as the value for money assessment) which currently form part of the role of the Audit Commission might need to be dealt with by others (including a greater input from scrutiny committees). This could impact on the work of Internal Audit, which at Ashford is a very small team with limited opportunity to take on additional work.
- 38. Option 3 would lead to greater transparency, but would require greater input from auditors (than Options 1 or 2) and hence involve greater cost.

- 39. External auditors would continue to have the power to prepare public interest reports, with the costs of such report being recovered from the audited body.
- 40. While local people would retain the right to make representations to the auditor and question them about the accounts, the consultation paper proposes to remove the formal right for local people to raise objections to the accounts. The paper suggests that there are sufficient other routes that local people can take if they have an issue with their council, including the Local Government Ombudsman and the Information Commissioner.

Arrangements for smaller bodies

- 41. Different arrangements are proposed for local public bodies with income and expenditure lower than £6.5 million. Ashford Borough Council is a 'Principal local authority' and not affected by these proposals.
- 42. However, the proposed arrangements would apply to all of the borough's parish councils. The detailed proposals are set out in the consultation paper at Appendix 1 (section 5).
- 43. In the case of smaller bodies the proposal is that a more limited independent examination is carried out; this is similar to the current requirement for small charities and other not-for-profit organisations. However, the proposal would place a responsibility on the county council to monitor the appointments of independent examiners to parish councils and other relevant bodies. The consultation paper makes no reference to a possible role here for district councils. This role for the county could be burdensome. Being closer to the day-to-day issues of parish councils it would be more logical for districts to play this role.

Risk Assessment

- 44. The principal risk of not responding to the consultation paper is that the views of Ashford Borough Council would not be represented and would not therefore help to shape future public audit arrangements.
- 45. The audit of public bodies plays a key role in ensuring that those responsible for handling public money are held accountable for the use of that money. Regular public audit also provides assurance on bodies arrangements for managing their finances properly, including their arrangements for value for money and to safeguard public money. It is therefore vital that effective public audit arrangements are put in place to manage the risks to these areas.

Equalities Impact Assessment

46. Not applicable

Other Options Considered

47. The Council could choose not to respond to the consultation. However, the proposals within the consultation paper have implications on the way that public audit will be provided to the Council.

Consultation

48. The report has been provided to the Audit Committee as part of the consultation on the Government proposals.

Implications Assessment

- 49. The Government proposals for local public audit contain four principles which have implications for the Council:
 - ➤ Localism; that local public bodies should be free to appoint their own independent external auditors from a more competitive and open market.
 - Transparency; that local public bodies will become increasingly accountable for their spending decisions to the people who provided their resources.
 - Lower audit fees (thereby reducing costs to the Council).
 - ➤ High standards of auditing; that external audit should remain both robust, efficient and follow the established principles of public audit.

Handling

50. The views of this Audit Committee will help to shape a draft response to the DCLG consultation paper on the Future of Local Public Audit, which would be the subject of further consultation with members before the deadline at the end of June.

Conclusion

- 51. The process for the abolition of the Audit Commission has started and wide ranging consultation is being sought on the future arrangements for local public audit.
- 52. The proposals contained within the consultation paper will have a direct impact of the provision of audit to the Council.
- 53. The consultation provides the opportunity for the Council to have an input to the arrangements that will be put in place nationally.

Portfolio Holder's Views

54. A copy of the report has been provided to the Leader and his comments will be made available to the meeting.

Contact: Brian Parsons Tel: 01233 330442

Email: brian.parsons@ashford.gov.uk



Future of local public audit **Consultation**





Future of local public audit **Consultation**

Department for Communities and Local Government Eland House Bressenden Place London SW1E 5DU

Telephone: 030 3444 0000

Website: www.communities.gov.uk

© Crown Copyright, 2011

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.

This publication, excluding logos, may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium for research, private study or for internal circulation within an organisation. This is subject to it being reproduced accurately and not used in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Crown copyright and the title of the publication specified.

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

If you require this publication in an alternative format please email <u>alternativeformats@communities.gsi.gov.uk</u>

DCLG Publications Tel: 030 0123 1124 Fax: 030 0123 1125

Email: product@communities.gsi.gov.uk

Online via the website: www.communities.gov.uk

March 2011

ISBN: 978 1 4098 2933 1

Contents

Ministerial foreword Glossary		4 6
1: Introduction	What is audit and why is it important?	10
	What is audit and why is it important? Current arrangements for the audit of local	10
	public bodies	11
	•	11
	Proposals for a new audit framework for local public bodies	11
	Design Principles	12
	What this consultation covers	13
	Audit Commission functions excluded from this	13
	consultation	14
	Timing and how to get involved	15
	Costs	15
	Who are we consulting?	16
	How to respond	16
	Publication of responses	16
2: Regulation of local	1 deliberation of respenses	.0
public audit	Standards and Codes of Practice	18
paine addit	Registration of auditors	19
	Monitoring and Enforcement	22
3: Commissioning		
local public audit	Duty to appoint an auditor	23
services	Role of the audit committee	27
	Involvement of the public in the appointment of	
	an auditor	29
	Applicability to other sectors	30
	Failure to appoint an auditor	30
	Rotation of audit firms and audit staff	32
	Resignation or Removal of an auditor	33
	Auditor Liability	36
4: Scope of audit and		
the work of auditors	Scope of local public audit	37
	Public Interest Reporting	41
	Provision of non-audit services	42
	Public Interest Disclosure	44
	Transparency	45
5: Arrangements for		
smaller bodies	Current system	48
	Appointing the examiner	53
	Public Interest Reporting for smaller bodies	54
	Objection to accounts for smaller bodies	54
Collist of consultation	Regulatory Regime for smaller bodies	55
6: List of consultation	List of consultation associans	F.C.
questions	List of consultation questions	56
Appendix A	Audited bodies published accounts	60
Appendix B	List of bodies to which the Audit Commission	00
Thheliniy n	appoints auditors in England	61
Appendix C	Recognised supervisory bodies and recognised	UI
Wholiaiv A	qualifying bodies in England	63

Ministerial foreword

"...The Audit Commission has lost its way. Rather than being a watchdog that champions taxpayers' interests, it has become the creature of the Whitehall state. We need to redress this balance."

Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 13 August 2010

On 13 August, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government announced our plans to disband the Audit Commission and re-focus audit on helping local people hold their councils and other local public bodies to account for local spending decisions.

We want to drive power downwards to people. We want local public bodies to be more accountable to their citizens, to you the taxpayer, rather than upwards to Whitehall. That is what localism is all about.

The current arrangements for local audit, whereby a single organisation - the Audit Commission - is the regulator, commissioner and provider of local audit services are inefficient and unnecessarily centralised. The Audit Commission has increased the professionalism and the quality of local government audit, but, it has also become too focused on reporting to central Government and supporting the previous era of a target driven Government.

We are clear that centralised inspection and supervision have no part in localism and that they can be an unnecessary burden on frontline services at a time when they must be tightening their belts and focusing on service delivery; they also drive a culture of compliance rather than initiative and problem solving. If our local services are going to be genuinely responsive, tailored to the needs of local people, then they must be accountable to those same people. This is why we want to put in place a new locally focused audit regime, which is open and transparent but retains the high quality of audit that we expect.

This consultation sets out our vision for the future of local audit. This vision is firmly based on four principles. The first of these is localism. When reforms are complete local public bodies will be free to appoint their own independent external auditors from a more competitive and open market. The second is transparency; local public bodies will become increasingly accountable for their spending decisions to the people who ultimately provide their resources. The third is to remove the overheads charged by the Audit Commission to service the central government machine. At a time when we are taking decisive action to reduce the deficit, we think it is important that we deliver a framework which sees a reduction in the overall cost of audit to local bodies. The fourth principle is high standards of auditing. Make no mistake, we are determined that audit will remain both robust and efficient and that the new framework will follow the established principles of public audit.

To meet these principles, the consultation sets out proposals which would see all local public bodies with a turnover of over £6.5m appointing their own independent auditor. This appointment would be made on the advice of an independent audit committee.

Auditors would be regulated under a system which mirrors that of the audit of companies with a role for the Financial Reporting Council and the professional audit bodies. We envisage that the National Audit Office will set the code of audit practice and we have put forward options for the scope of audit in the new framework. The consultation document also sets out how transparency will be increased in the new framework and our proposals for auditing smaller bodies with a turnover below £6.5m in a proportionate way.

Alongside these proposals, the consultation asks a number of questions, to which I would welcome your responses. Your contribution will help us to further develop the framework before publishing legislation in draft in the autumn.

We look forward to hearing your comments on how we can make the future of local audit robust and efficient while ensuring that local public bodies are truly accountable to those they serve.

Rt. Hon Grant Shapps MP

Mant Shapes.

Glossary

Accountancy and Actuarial Disciplinary Board

An independent board which has the ability to investigate and discipline accountants and actuaries who are members of the following professional bodies: the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants; the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants; the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales; the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ireland and the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland. http://www.frc.org.uk/aadb/

Charities Act 1993

The Charities Act 1993 sets out the regulatory framework in which charities operate. http://www.charity-commission.gov.uk/About_us/Regulation/default.aspx

CIPFA

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy is the professional body for people in public finance.

www.cipfa.org.uk

Companies Act 2006

The Companies Act 2006 forms the primary source of UK company law. http://www.companieshouse.gov.uk/companiesAct/companiesAct.shtml

Comptroller and Auditor General

Created by the Exchequer and Audit Departments Act 1866 to authorise funding to Government departments and examine departmental accounts, reporting the results to Parliament.

Drainage Boards

An operating authority, established in areas of England and Wales with particular drainage needs. The Board is responsible for work to secure clean water drainage and water level management.

http://www.ada.org.uk/

Financial Reporting Council

The Financial Reporting Council is the UK's independent regulator responsible for promoting high quality corporate governance and reporting to foster investment. They also oversee the regulatory activities of the professional accountancy bodies and operate independent disciplinary arrangements for public interest cases involving accountants and actuaries.

http://frc.org.uk/

Freedom of Information Act 2000

Legislation which enables any member of the public to request information from a public body.

Grant Certification

The Audit Commission is required by the Audit Commission Act 1998 to make arrangements for the certification of grant claims when requested to do so by public bodies in receipt of grant funds.

Health and Social Care Bill

The Bill takes forward the areas of Equity and Excellence: *Liberating the NHS* (July 2010) and the subsequent Government response *Liberating the NHS: legislative framework and next steps* (December 2010). It also includes provision to strengthen public health services and reform the Department's arm's length bodies.

International Financial Reporting Standards

IFRS is an independent, not for profit private sector organisation which works on behalf of the public sector to develop standardised financial reporting standards. http://www.ifrs.org/

LASAAC

The Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee (LASAAC) develops and promotes proper accounting practice for local government in Scotland in line with legislation, International Financial Reporting Standards (overseen by the International Accounting Standards Board) and the work of the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.

http://www.cipfa.org.uk/pt/cipfalasaac/index.cfm

Lord Sharman

Liberal Democrat peer, previously the spokesman for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform and former chairman of KMPG. Lord Sharman's review of audit and accountability for central government, *Holding to Account: the Review of Audit and Accountability in Central Government* was published in February 2001. http://archive.treasury.gov.uk/docs/2001/sharman 1302.html

Management Commentary

A narrative report which provides the context or background to the financial position, performance and cash flow of an authority or public body.

National Fraud Initiative

Since 1996 the Audit Commission has run the National Fraud Initiative (NFI), an exercise that matches electronic data within and between audited bodies to prevent

and detect fraud. This includes police authorities, local probation boards and fire and rescue authorities as well as local councils.

www.audit-commission.gov.uk/nfi

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill

The Bill will make the police service more accountable to local people by replacing police authorities with directly elected police and crime commissioners to be introduced from May 2012.

Professional Oversight Board

The Professional Oversight Board (POB), formerly known as the Professional Oversight Board for Accountancy, is a UK regulatory body specialising in the accounting, auditing and actuarial professions.

www.frc.org.uk/pob

Public Audit Forum

The public audit agencies, the National Audit Office, the Northern Ireland Audit Office, the Audit Commission for Local Authorities and the National Health Service in England, the Wales Audit Office and Audit Scotland have established the Public Audit Forum to provide a focus for developmental thinking in relation to public audit. http://www.public-audit-forum.gov.uk

Public Interest Reports

Under Section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998, the appointed auditor is required to consider whether to issue a report in the public interest on any significant matter coming to his or her notice in the course of an audit, and to bring it to the attention of the audited body and the public.

Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998

The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 is an Act that protects whistleblowers from detrimental treatment by their employer.

Remuneration report

Companies produce a report containing certain information concerning director's remuneration, governed by the Directors' Remuneration Report Regulations 2002,

Section 151 officer

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires every local authority to make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and requires one officer to be nominated to take responsibility for the administration of those affairs.

Special Health Authorities

Special health authorities are health authorities that provide a health service to the whole of England, not just to a local community. They have been set up to provide a national service to the NHS or the public under section 9 of the NHS Act 1977. They are independent, but can be subject to ministerial direction in the same way as other NHS bodies.

Unitary Authority

Since 1996 the two-tier structure of local government has ceased to exist in Scotland and Wales, and in some parts of England, and has been replaced by single-tier unitary authorities, responsible for all local government services.

Whole of Government Accounts

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) are full accruals based accounts covering the whole public sector and audited by the National Audit Office. WGA is a consolidation of the accounts of about 1500 bodies from central government, devolved administrations, the health service, local government and public corporations.

Section 1

1. Introduction

- 1.1. On 13 August 2010, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government announced plans to disband the Audit Commission, transfer the work of the Audit Commission's in-house practice into the private sector and put in place a new local audit framework. Local authorities would be free to appoint their own independent external auditors and there would be a new audit framework for local health bodies. A new decentralised audit regime would be established and councils and local health bodies would still be subject to robust auditing.
- 1.2. The Secretary of State was clear that safeguards would be developed to ensure independence, competence and quality, regulated within a statutory framework.
- 1.3. This consultation paper discusses the Government's proposals for how a new local audit framework could work and seeks your views.
- 1.4. This document has been developed by the Department for Communities and Local Government. Our proposals have been discussed with a wide range of partners and bodies which will be affected by the changes. These include the Audit Commission, the National Audit Office, the Financial Reporting Council, accountancy professional bodies, local government, other local public bodies and Government departments with an interest.

What is audit and why is it important?

- 1.5. An audit is the review of financial statements, resulting in the publication of an independent opinion on whether those statements have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and present a true and fair view. A summary of accounting arrangements for local bodies other than those in the health sector is at appendix A.
- 1.6. The audit of public bodies plays a key role in ensuring that those responsible for handling public money are held accountable for the use of that money. Public audit strengthens accountability, both upwards to the elected or appointed members who make decisions about the allocation of resources, and outwards to the consumers and beneficiaries, taxpayers and the wider community. Regular public audit also provides assurance on bodies' arrangements for managing their finances properly, including their arrangements for value for money and to safeguard public money.

Current arrangements for the audit of local public bodies in England

- 1.7. There are approximately 11,000 local public bodies which, together, are responsible for some £200bn of public money. Of these, there are 353 local authorities; 268 NHS bodies (in addition to Special Health Authorities audited by the National Audit Office, and Foundation Trusts); 38 police authorities; and 215 other bodies, including fire and rescue authorities; national park authorities; conservation boards; larger internal drainage boards, joint committees; and probation trusts. The remaining 9,800 bodies, with income or expenditure ranging from £1m down to £1,000 or less, comprise: 9,400 parish and town councils; 150 internal drainage boards; and 250 other bodies (for example, charter trustees and port health authorities). A list of the categories of bodies audited by the Audit Commission is set out in Appendix B.
- 1.8. The current system for the audit of local public bodies is operated and overseen by the Audit Commission under the provisions of the Audit Commission Act 1998 (as amended). Since its inception in 1983, the Audit Commission has acted as the regulator, commissioner and provider of local audit services.
- 1.9. Acting as the overall regulator, the Audit Commission publishes two statutory Codes of audit practice - one for local government bodies and one for health bodies - which are approved by Parliament. These set the standards for audit and require auditors to comply with the auditing and ethical standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board (which is part of the Financial Reporting Council)². The Commission monitors the quality of audit, although the professional accountancy bodies also monitor their members.
- 1.10. Acting as the commissioner, the Audit Commission appoints auditors, either from its in-house practice or from firms contracted to the Commission, to local public bodies.
- 1.11. The Audit Commission also acts as the main provider in the current system, with 70 per cent of local public audits undertaken by its in-house practice.

Proposals for a new audit framework for local public bodies

- 1.12. The Government believes that the current arrangements for local public audit, whereby a single organisation is the regulator, commissioner and provider of local audit services are unnecessarily centralised. There is a lack of transparency and clarity as well as potential conflicts between the roles.
- 1.13. The proposals set out in this consultation build on the statutory arrangements and professional ethical and technical standards that currently apply to companies. However, those arrangements have been adapted to ensure that the principles of public sector audit are maintained.

11

¹ http://www.frc.org.uk/apb/ http://www.frc.org.uk/

- 1.14. The proposed new local audit regime would continue to provide Parliament with the assurances it needs on public spending. The National Audit Office would prepare the Codes of audit practice, which prescribe the way in which auditors are to carry out their functions, and which would continue to be approved by Parliament, and associated guidance. The National Audit Office would also continue to audit Government departments providing funding to local public bodies and will continue to receive Whole of Government Accounts returns. Registration of audit firms and auditors, as well as monitoring and enforcement of audit standards, would be undertaken by the accountancy professional bodies, under the supervision of the Financial Reporting Council (as this builds on their existing role in the regulation of private sector auditors) and its operating bodies.
- 1.15.Principal local authorities would appoint their own auditors, with decisions made by full council, taking into account advice from an independently chaired audit committee. Different arrangements would apply for some other local public bodies and these are explained in section 3.
- 1.16.Localism and decentralisation can only work if central government is prepared to trust local bodies, communities and citizens. We have aimed to design a local audit system which provides the rigour needed for Parliament, but allows local public bodies to take more responsibility in the way they procure audit services. These changes go hand in hand with the Government's actions to increase transparency in local government and will help enable local people and local organisations to hold their local public bodies to account for the way that their money is spent.

Design principles

- 1.17.In proposing a new framework for local public audit, we have followed a set of design principles:
 - localism and decentralisation freeing up local public bodies, subject to appropriate safeguards, to appoint their own independent external auditors from a more competitive and open market, while ensuring a proportionate approach for smaller bodies
 - transparency ensuring that the results of audit work are easily accessible
 to the public, helping local people to hold councils and other local public
 bodies to account for local spending decisions
 - **lower audit fees** achieving a reduction in the overall cost of audit
 - **high standards of auditing** ensuring that there is effective and transparent regulation of public audit, and conformity to the principles of public audit
- 1.18. These principles are not wholly independent. For instance, there is a clear relationship between the quality and scope of the audit and the level of audit fees. We wish to find the right balance to ensure an effective, robust, quality audit for local bodies while keeping fees as low as possible.

- 1.19. We have also had regard to the principles of local public audit, which were codified in 1998 by the Public Audit Forum, but have deep historical roots. They are:
 - Independence of public sector auditors from the organisations being audited. Auditors must be independent, to avoid improper influence and allow work to be carried out freely. Independence encompasses the methods of appointment of auditors; the financial relationship between auditor and audited bodies, discretion in the amount of work necessary, the ability to follow up the implementation of recommendations, and the ability to have access to information necessary for audit work.
 - The wide scope of public audit, covering the audit of financial statements, regularity, propriety and value for money. Public audit involves more than an opinion on accounts. It also covers issues such as regularity, propriety and value for money. In this way, it helps to contribute to corporate governance arrangements of public bodies.
 - The ability of public auditors to make the results of their audits available to the public, to democratically elected representatives and other key stakeholders. To be effective, there must be appropriate reporting arrangements, under which auditors report the results of their work both to the bodies responsible for funding and to the public.

Q1: Have we identified the correct design principles? If not what other principles should be considered? Do the proposals in this document meet these design principles?

What this consultation covers

1.20. This consultation focuses on the audit of local public bodies that currently have auditors appointed by the Audit Commission. It sets out, in sections 2 and 3, our proposals for the regulation and commissioning of audit, including the various elements of the new regulatory framework and the role local public bodies will have when appointing an auditor. Section 4 covers the scope of local public audit and the work of auditors, while section 5 deals with the way that the proposed framework would apply to smaller local bodies, such as parish councils.

LOCAL BODIES COVERED BY THIS CONSULTATION

- 1.21. This document sets out proposals for a new framework for most bodies currently audited by the Audit Commission and listed in appendix B.
- 1.22. However, the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill, which is currently before Parliament, aims to make a number of significant reforms to the policing system. This includes provisions to abolish police authorities (excluding the City of London) and replace them with directly elected Police and Crime Commissioners for each police force outside London, and the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime for the Metropolitan Police.

- 1.23. Police and Crime Commissioners (and Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime) will be responsible for holding the Chief Constable (and Commissioner for London) of their police force to account for the full range of their responsibilities.
- 1.24.Probation services, which used to be part of Local Government's remit, have been a responsibility of central government since consolidation into the Home Office in 2000-01. The financial results of probation trusts have been consolidated into the National Offender Management Service accounts, which are audited by the Comptroller and Auditor General. We believe, therefore, that probation trusts should in future be audited by the Comptroller and Auditor General.

Q2: Do you agree that the audit of probation trusts should fall within the Comptroller and Auditor General's regime?

- 1.25.Pension funds are not statutorily subject to a full audit separate from that of the local authority. However, the Audit Commission has used its regulatory powers to require pension funds to be audited separately. We propose to include pension funds on the list of local public bodies subject to the new local audit framework.
- 1.26.We consider that Joint Committees should remain subject to audit, but it will be for the constituent authorities making up the Joint Committee to decide whether the Joint Committee is audited separately or as part of one of the authorities' own audits.
- 1.27.The abolition of the Audit Commission will also impact on the audit arrangements for local health bodies. Currently, the Strategic Health Authorities, Primary Care Trusts and NHS Trusts are audited under the Audit Commission framework. The Health and Social Care Bill, currently before Parliament, aims to abolish Strategic Health Authorities and Primary Care Trusts and provides for all NHS Trusts to become Foundation Trusts by 2014. The Department of Health is considering the governance and accountability arrangements for the new health landscape and these will help determine the appropriate audit arrangements. The local public bodies referred to in this consultation paper do not therefore include local health bodies. However, health bodies will be included in draft legislation on the proposals for the new local audit framework. The Department of Health will publish a paper summarising its proposals at the same time.

Audit Commission functions excluded from this consultation

1.28. There are a number of functions that are or have been carried out by the Audit Commission that are not considered as part of this consultation. The Secretary of State has announced that the Commission's inspection and research activities would cease. In general, local government and others outside of central Government are well-placed to decide when and where research should

be undertaken. In addition, the National Audit Office, following confirmation of its existing powers, will be able, when reporting to Parliament on the activities of central Government departments, to examine the impact of policies administered by local bodies. As well as contributing to parliamentary accountability, this will provide useful insights for local communities by drawing out examples of what works successfully in different circumstances and how barriers to good value for money are being overcome.

- 1.29.It will also be possible for an auditor to undertake value for money studies connected to audit work, with the agreement of the audited body. In addition, the National Audit Office would be able to identify and report on wider issues of concern about local bodies' use of resources or common themes of interest, should such issues be identified by the audit process. They could do this, in part, by drawing upon the work of local auditors.
- 1.30.Other functions, such as grant certification, operation of the National Fraud Initiative and the auditor function of reporting on Whole of Government Accounts returns will continue in some form, but are not considered in detail here. These issues will be covered in the forthcoming draft bill and accompanying consultation.
- 1.31.The Audit Commission appoints auditors to all local public bodies in England. It appoints its own auditors from the in-house practice to 70 per cent of local public bodies, with the remaining 30 per cent of auditors employed by accountancy firms under contract to the Commission. We are considering a range of options for transferring the Commission's in-house audit practice into the private sector. We expect that an announcement on our preferred option for privatisation of the Commission's audit work will be made ahead of publication of a draft audit bill.

Timing and how to get involved

- 1.32. This initial consultation will run for 12 weeks with responses invited by 30 June. Following this period, we will consider the responses we receive and will publish a summary and a Government response.
- 1.33.We then propose to publish draft legislation on the proposals for a new local audit framework which will be subject to pre-legislative scrutiny by Parliament and other interested parties. As part of this process, we will consult again on our proposals, and will publish a consultation stage impact assessment. Following pre-legislative scrutiny, we will prepare for final legislation to be introduced at the earliest opportunity.

Costs

1.34.We are developing an impact assessment which will be published alongside the draft Bill. We would therefore be interested in your views on the costs and benefits of the proposals and options set out in this consultation. This evidence will inform the draft bill proposals and help refine the impact assessment.

Who are we consulting?

1.35.We would welcome comments from organisations affected by the change to the audit of local public bodies, and any other bodies or individuals. This document is available on the Department for Communities and Local Government website (www.communities.gov.uk) and we will be drawing it to the attention of all public bodies currently audited by the Audit Commission, to professional bodies and those involved in regulating audit in England. It is open to all to make representations on the proposed new system of local audit and all submissions will be carefully considered.

How to respond

1.36. Your response must be received by 30 June 2011 to:

fola@communities.gsi.gov.uk

Or to:

Luke Scofield

The Department for Communities and Local Government

Zone 3/G6

Eland House

Bressenden Place

London SW1E 5DU

- 1.37. Please use the title 'Response to future of local audit consultation'.
- 1.38.It would be helpful if you could make clear in your response whether you represent an organisation or group, and in what capacity you are responding.

Publication of responses – confidentiality and data protection

- 1.39.Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal information, may be published, or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000, the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004).
- 1.40.If you want any information you provide to be treated as confidential you should be aware that under the Freedom of Information Act, there is a statutory Code of Practice with which public authorities must comply, and which deals, amongst other things, with obligations of confidence. In view of this, it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have provided as confidential.
- 1.41.If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give any assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer

- generated by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department.
- 1.42.The Department will process your personal data in accordance with the Data Protection Act and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties.

Section 2

2. Regulation of local public audit

- 2.1. Audit systems in the UK for both the public and private sector follow the International Standards on Auditing. These include the following common elements of regulation:
 - **standards** setting out what comprises the audit and the quality standards that apply
 - registration determining who can audit and ensuring that auditors have the necessary skills, expertise and qualifications in order that there can be confidence in the auditors' work
 - monitoring and enforcement ensuring that standards are met and that appropriate action is taken in the case of failure
- 2.2. The Government believes that having a specific regulator for the local government and the local health sectors in England less than 10% of the audit market risks duplication. We therefore consider that, to the extent possible, there should be a consistent regulatory regime for audit, covering the private sector and the local government and local health sectors. This local public audit regime should be focused on local accountability, in the way that the commercial sector is tailored to accountability to shareholders.

Standards and codes of practice

CURRENT SYSTEM

- 2.3. Under the current system the Audit Commission sets audit standards through Codes of audit practice for the local government and health sectors, which are approved by Parliament. These Codes build on the ethical, auditing and other standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board and are therefore broadly consistent with audit standards applied in other sectors.
- 2.4. However, the Commission's Codes contain additional standards to reflect the principles of public audit and its wider scope, particularly in terms of regularity and propriety and value for money. They specify the approach to audit for areas not already covered by professional audit standards (such as the 'value for money' conclusion). The Commission also publishes guidance and statements of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies.

OTHER SECTORS

2.5. Standards for the audit of companies are set by the Auditing Practices Board (part of the Financial Reporting Council), which sets standards and issues guidance for the performance of external audit and in relation to the independence, objectivity and integrity of external auditors. The Auditing Practices Board is also responsible for setting ethical standards for auditors in the private and public sectors.

The Audit Commission's Codes of audit practice

The Commission has a statutory duty to prepare, keep under review and publish statutory Codes of audit practice. There are currently two Codes: one for local government bodies and one for health bodies. The Codes, which are approved by Parliament and must be reviewed at least every five years, set out best professional practice with respect to the standards, procedures and techniques to be adopted by auditors. The latest versions of the Codes of practice were published in 2010.

The Codes are high level documents, which focus on the Audit Commission's core requirements and aspects of audit specific to its regime. Each Code:

- sets out the general principles to be followed by auditors in delivering their objectives
- outlines auditors' responsibilities regarding the audit of financial statements and use of resources and
- sets out the range of outputs through which the results of audit are reported

OUR PROPOSALS

2.6. Under our proposals, auditors of local public bodies would continue to follow the auditing and ethical standards set by the Auditing Practices Board. We have considered which body would be best placed to produce the audit Codes of practice and supporting guidance. While this is a role that could possibly be undertaken by the Financial Reporting Council or the profession, we believe that the National Audit Office, given its role in providing Parliament with assurance on public spending, would be best placed to develop and maintain the audit Codes, which would continue to be approved by Parliament. The National Audit Office would also produce any supporting guidance.

Q3: Do you think that the National Audit Office would be best placed to produce the Code of audit practice and the supporting guidance?

Registration of auditors

CURRENT SYSTEM

2.7. The Audit Commission Act 1998 stipulates that for an individual or a firm to be appointed as an auditor, the person/s conducting the audit must be a member of one of the specified professional bodies and has such qualifications as may be approved by the Secretary of State (none have been so approved). The Audit Commission regulates the quality of the work of auditors by setting minimum qualifications a public sector auditor must have in conjunction with standards set by the professional bodies for membership.

OTHER SECTORS

- 2.8. As part of the statutory framework for the audit of companies under the Companies Act 2006, the Professional Oversight Board (part of the Financial Reporting Council), essentially acts as the main regulator, with statutory powers delegated to it by Government for the recognition and supervision of those professional accountancy bodies responsible for supervising the work of auditors or offering an audit qualification recognised qualifying body and recognised supervisory body e.g. Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
- 2.9. Recognised supervisory bodies are responsible for putting rules and arrangements in place which their members must fulfil before they can be registered auditors, both as regards eligibility for appointment as a statutory auditor and the conduct of statutory audit work. A list of recognised supervisory bodies and recognised qualifying bodies for the purposes of the Companies Act is at annex C. The Institute of Charted Accountants for Scotland maintains the list of registered auditors for the whole of the UK on behalf of the recognised supervisory bodies.
- 2.10.People with responsibility for company audit work at the firm must also hold a recognised qualification, awarded by a recognised qualifying body.
- 2.11.Looking elsewhere, in Finland, auditors who are eligible to audit municipal authorities are included in a register of eligible auditors maintained by the Finnish Board of Chartered Public Finance Auditing. In Italy, auditors who can carry out local public audit are included on a register of auditors managed by the Ministry of Justice.

OUR PROPOSALS

- 2.12.We propose that, as under the Companies Act 2006 ("the Companies Act"), an overall regulator would have responsibility for authorising professional accountancy bodies to act as recognised supervisory bodies for local public audit. Any such body would need to comply with the statutory requirements set out in the proposed primary legislation. It would have the roles of registration, monitoring, and discipline in relation to local public audit.
- 2.13. The Financial Reporting Council is the regulator for Companies Act audit and we propose that it takes on a similar role for the local public audit regulatory regime in England, provided that it can assure the Government that it has both the resources and the expertise to undertake the role, and wishes to do so. It is likely that setting up a separate regulator for local public audit would lead to duplication of work as entirely new systems and procedures would need to be developed.
- 2.14.Recognised supervisory bodies for local public audit could include supervisory bodies recognised under the Companies Act 2006 and any other bodies with sufficient expertise and capacity.
- 2.15.A recognised supervisory body for local public audit could have rules and practices covering:

- the eligibility of firms to be appointed as local public auditors and
- the qualifications, experience and other criteria individuals must reach before being permitted to lead a local public audit engagement and/or sign off an audit report
- 2.16. We propose to set out, in primary legislation, certain high level criteria that specify that the auditor must be:
 - a member of a recognised supervisory body and
 - eligible for appointment under the rules of that body
- 2.17. The legislation will include provisions enabling the supervisory body to develop appropriate detailed rules and practices on other criteria.
- 2.18. The eligibility criteria will be based on those for the audit of companies as we would like to ensure enough flexibility in the criteria to enable new firms to enter the local public audit market. However, there will need to be additional criteria to ensure that auditors have the necessary experience to be able to undertake a robust audit of a local public body.
- 2.19. We propose that all eligible local public auditors would be placed on a public register. This register could be kept by the recognised supervisory bodies for local public audit, or it could be kept by another body.

Q4: Do you agree that we should replicate the system for approving and controlling statutory auditors under the Companies Act 2006 for statutory local public auditors?

Q5: Who should be responsible for maintaining and reviewing the register of statutory local public auditors?

Q6: How can we ensure that the right balance is struck between requiring audit firms eligible for statutory local public audit to have the right level of experience, while allowing new firms to enter the market?

Q7: What additional criteria are required to ensure that auditors have the necessary experience to be able to undertake a robust audit of a local public body, without restricting the market?

Monitoring and enforcement

CURRENT SYSTEM

2.20. The Audit Commission currently monitors the quality of auditors' performance through its annual quality review programme. The Audit Inspection Unit of the Financial Reporting Council reviews the quality of the financial statements audits carried out by the Commission's own audit practice and by private firms on behalf of the Commission.

OTHER SECTORS

- 2.21.Under the Companies Act, the recognised supervisory bodies are responsible for monitoring the quality of the statutory audits undertaken by their members and for disciplining their members where this is appropriate.
- 2.22.Some companies that are of public significance because of the nature of their business, their size, or their number of employees can be designated as "public interest entities". In the case of these bodies, the Professional Oversight Board has an additional role in monitoring the quality of the auditing function and the Accountancy and Actuarial Disciplinary Board has a role in investigating significant public interest disciplinary cases and imposing sanctions to those found guilty of misconduct.

OUR PROPOSALS

- 2.23.We propose that recognised supervisory bodies for local public audit would have responsibility for monitoring the quality of audits undertaken by their members, as they do in the private sector. This work would fall under the monitoring units of these bodies, and would include:
 - reviews of individual audit engagements
 - reviews of the policies, procedures and internal controls of those firms licensed to carry out the public sector audits
 - reporting on the quality of audit to the registration body
- 2.24. The recognised supervisory bodies for local public audit would investigate complaints or disciplinary cases, as well as issues identified during their monitoring process. They would also be able to stop a firm being eligible for appointment as a statutory local public auditor and remove them from the register of eligible local public auditors.
- 2.25.We are considering whether the overall regulator (i.e. the body that authorises the recognised supervisory bodies) should have a role in assuring the quality, and undertaking independent investigation of the audit of local public bodies that might be considered analogous to public interest entities for the public sector. The overall regulator would have powers to investigate and discipline in these cases. The process undertaken would be similar to that above, but would provide an additional level of assurance in respect of those bodies.

However, the costs that would fall on the Financial Reporting Council from undertaking this role would be passed on to the audit firms and therefore could be reflected in fees.

Q8: What should constitute a public interest entity (i.e. a body for which audits are directly monitored by the overall regulator) for the purposes of local audit regulation? How should these be defined?

Q9: There is an argument that by their very nature all local public bodies could be categorised as 'public interest entities.' Does the overall regulator need to undertake any additional regulation or monitoring of these bodies? If so, should these bodies be categorised by the key services they perform, or by their income or expenditure? If the latter, what should the threshold be?

Q10: What should the role of the regulator be in relation to any local bodies treated in a manner similar to public interest entities?

Section 3

3. Commissioning local public audit services

3.1. The Government believes that a localist approach, without an independent central body having a role in appointing an auditor, is an important element of driving accountability to local people rather than to central government. However, maintaining the independence of the auditor in the new system is central to the principles of public audit. Our proposals therefore need to include measures to safeguard the independence of the auditor.

Duty to appoint an auditor

CURRENT SYSTEM

3.2. Under the current system, all auditors of local public bodies included in Schedule 2 of the Audit Commission Act are appointed by the Audit Commission. Before making appointments of auditors to local government bodies, the Commission has a statutory duty to consult the body. The Commission has voluntarily extended this practice to health bodies.

OTHER SECTORS

- 3.3. Commissioning takes different forms in different sectors. Under the Companies Act the annual general meeting must agree a resolution on the appointment of the auditor, although this will be based on a recommendation from directors and input from an audit committee.
- 3.4. Looking elsewhere, it is clear that there are different systems for commissioning audit services. However, in the USA local authorities procure their own auditors: an audit committee often appoints 'internal auditors' for their local authority, who then procure the external auditor.

OUR PROPOSALS

- 3.5. We propose that all larger local public bodies (those with income/expenditure over £6.5m) will be under a duty to appoint an auditor. The auditor would need to be on the register of local public statutory auditors, which should help to ensure that the quality of auditors is maintained.
- 3.6. It is equally important as it is in other sectors that those to whom audit is directed have influence but that the independence of the auditor remains paramount. Therefore, for larger public bodies, we propose an approach whereby appointment is made by full council or equivalent, on the advice of an audit committee with opportunities for the electorate to make an input.
- 3.7. We consider that local public bodies will wish to co-operate to ensure that there is wide competition for external audit contracts, and that local public bodies will want to work together to procure an external auditor. We propose to ensure that legislation provides for both joint procurement and joint audit committees.

Q11: Do you think the arrangements we set out are sufficiently flexible to allow councils to cooperate and jointly appoint auditors? If not, how would you make the appointment process more flexible, whilst ensuring independence?

- 3.8. Lord Sharman, in his report, *Holding to Account: the Review of Audit and Accountability in Central Government*, was clear that, to maintain confidence, auditors must be independent to avoid improper influence and allow work to be carried out freely. Independence includes the way auditors are appointed. We consider that, as part of a new local audit regime, each larger local public body should have an audit committee with a majority of members independent of the local public body and, with some elected members to strike a balance between objectivity and in-depth understanding of the issues.
- 3.9. A possible structure is set out below. However, there could be alternative arrangements, for example:
 - a) only the chair and perhaps a minority of members are independent of the local public body
 - b) a chair and a majority of members independent of the local public body, as described below
 - c) as for (b), but with independent selection of the members independent of the local authorities
- 3.10.We are keen to ensure that local public bodies have flexibility in the way that they constitute and run audit committees. But we need to balance this with ensuring that the minimum requirements for an audit committee set out in legislation provide for an independent audit appointment. We set out below a possible structure and role for the audit committee, some of which may be prescribed in legislation and some of which we would put forward as best practice.

Structure of audit committees

We envisage that in the new system, an audit committee could be structured in the following way:

- The chair should be independent of the local public body. The vice-chair would also be independent, to allow for the possible absence of the chair.
- The elected members on the audit committee should be non-executive, non-cabinet members, sourced from the audited body and at least one should have recent and relevant financial experience (it is recommended that a third of members have recent and relevant financial experience where possible).
- There would be a majority of members of the committee who were independent of the local public body.

Independent members of the committee

When choosing an independent member of the committee, a person can only be considered for the position if:

- he or she has not been a member nor an officer of the local authority/public body within five years before the date of the appointment
- is not a member nor an officer of that or any other relevant authority
- is not a relative nor a close friend of a member or an officer of the body/authority
- has applied for the appointment
- has been approved by a majority of the members of the council
- the position has been advertised in at least one newspaper distributed in the local area and in other similar publications or websites that the body/local authority considered appropriate

Q12: Do you think we have identified the correct criteria to ensure the quality of independent members? If not, what criteria would you suggest?

Q13: How do we balance the requirements for independence with the need for skills and experience of independent members? Is it necessary for independent members to have financial expertise?

Q14: Do you think that sourcing suitable independent members will be difficult? Will remuneration be necessary and, if so, at what level?

Role of the Audit Committee

CURRENT SYSTEM

- 3.11.As auditors are currently appointed by the Audit Commission there is no role for an audit committee in the appointment of auditors, although the Audit Commission always consults local public bodies before it confirms an audit appointment. However, some local public bodies do have Audit Committees (some of which are independent) with roles in relation to both internal and external audit.
- 3.12. Health bodies currently have their own form of audit committees following the Financial Reporting Council best practice guidance, comprising of independently appointed non-executive directors governed by their own rules and requirements.

OTHER SECTORS

- 3.13. The Financial Reporting Council currently produces guidance for the establishment of audit committees for companies, stating that they should be made up of at least three, or in the case of smaller companies two, independent non-executive directors.
- 3.14. The main role and responsibilities of a company's audit committee are set out in written terms of reference and can include a number of roles, including:
 - providing advice to the board in relation to the appointment of external auditors
 - approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor
 - reviewing and monitoring the external auditor's independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process
 - developing and implementing policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services
- 3.15.Looking elsewhere, audit committees are statutory bodies in each municipality in Finland. Their remit includes preparing the choice and appointment of external auditors. In Canada, the local authority's audit committee also commissions audit services.

OUR PROPOSALS

- 3.16. It is likely that we would want to specify in legislation some responsibilities that the audit committee should have in relation to the engagement of an auditor and monitoring the independence and quality of the external audit. However, we would not wish to limit the scope of an audit committee so that a local body had no flexibility in designing its role.
- 3.17. The expanded role of the audit committee would include the provision of advice and guidance to the full council or equivalent (the audit committee may wish to have regard to advice from the section 151 officer) on appropriate criteria for engaging an auditor and advice as to how these criteria could be weighted. The audit committee would be given copies of the bids to evaluate in order that they

- may advise the full council or equivalent on the selection process and may, if they wish, indicate which auditor, in their view, presents the best choice.
- 3.18.The full council or equivalent would need to have regard to the advice of the audit committee but would not need to follow its advice. The full council or equivalent would be responsible for selecting an auditor and engaging that auditor on a contractual basis.
- 3.19.Advice provided by the audit committee to the full council or equivalent would be published, although consideration will need to be given to the treatment of commercially confidential material.
- 3.20.If the full council or equivalent did not follow the advice of the audit committee, then it would need to publish on its website a statement from the audit committee explaining its advice and a statement from the full council or equivalent setting out the reasons why the council or equivalent has taken a different position.

Option 1

- 3.21.We could specify only one mandatory duty for the local public body's audit committee, i.e. to provide advice to the local public body on the engagement of the auditor and the resignation or removal of an auditor.
- 3.22.It would then be left up to the local public body and the audit committee to decide whether the audit committee should have a wider role in other issues, e.g. setting a policy on the provision of non-audit services by the statutory auditor or reviewing the relationship between the auditor and the audited body.
- 3.23. This option would ensure that the audit committee provided advice to the local public body at crucial moments, but would allow the local public body and the audit committee flexibility to decide on any other functions it may carry out. However, if only the minimum was followed, this may not provide an adequate check on ongoing independence through the auditor's term.

Option 2

- 3.24. We could specify a much more detailed mandatory role for the audit committee which could include, but may not be restricted to the following:
 - providing advice to the full council on the procurement and selection of their external auditor
 - setting a policy on the provision of non-audit work by the statutory auditor
 - overseeing issues around the possible resignation or removal of the auditor
 - seeking assurances that action is being taken on issues identified at audit
 - considering auditors' reports
 - ensuring that there is an effective relationship between internal and external audit
 - reviewing the financial statements, external auditor's opinions/conclusions and reports to members and monitor management action in response to the issues raised by external audit
 - providing advice to the full council on the quality of service they are receiving

- reporting annually to the full council on its activities for the previous year
- 3.25. This option would provide more assurance about the independence of the relationship between the audited body and its auditor, it would also ensure that the audit committee had a wider role in reviewing the financial arrangements of the local public body.

Q15: Do you think that our proposals for audit committees provide the necessary safeguards to ensure the independence of the auditor appointment? If so, which of the options described in paragraph 3.9 seems most appropriate and proportionate? If not, how would you ensure independence while also ensuring a decentralised approach?

Q16: Which option do you consider would strike the best balance between a localist approach and a robust role for the audit committee in ensuring independence of the auditor?

Q17: Are these appropriate roles and responsibilities for the Audit Committee? To what extent should the role be specified in legislation?

Q18: Should the process for the appointment of an auditor be set out in a statutory code of practice or guidance? If the latter, who should produce and maintain this?

Involvement of the public in the appointment of an auditor

CURRENT SYSTEM

3.26. There is no involvement of the public in the appointment of auditors by the Audit Commission to audited bodies.

OUR PROPOSALS

3.27.We envisage that the appointment of an auditor by the local public body should be as transparent as possible so that local people are able to hold their local public bodies to account for the appointment.

Pre-appointment

3.28. The audited body could ask for expressions of interest from audit firms for the audit contract one month prior to the publication of the invitation to tender. The list of those firms that have expressed an interest would then be published on the audited body's website. The public would then be able to make representations to the audited body's audit committee about any of these firms. The audit committee would consider these representations when providing advice to the full council or equivalent.

Post - appointment

3.29. The public would be able to make representations at any time to the local public body's audit committee. If a representation identified a significant, or potentially significant, issue relating to the auditor, then the audit committee would be able to provide advice to the audited body on that issue and investigate as appropriate. If the issue identified was material to the ongoing work of the auditor (such as an undisclosed material conflict of interest) then the audited body would need to take such steps as appeared necessary, in accordance with the terms of the contract with the auditor, to address that issue. We may also wish to specify in legislation some statutory requirements relating to conflicts of interest.

Q19: Is this a proportionate approach to public involvement in the selection and work of auditors?

Applicability to other sectors

- 3.30. The policy of audit committees acting as a safeguard to independent appointment is applicable to all larger local public bodies covered by this framework. The approach may differ depending on the constitution and governance arrangements of those bodies.
- 3.31.For Police and Crime Commissioners (and Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime) and Chief Constables (and Commissioner for London) we are considering whether the Police and Crime Panel should have a role similar to that of the audit committee. Arrangements for the audit of these policing bodies will be finalised once the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill has completed its passage.

Q20: How can this process be adapted for bodies without elected members?

Failure to appoint an auditor

CURRENT SYSTEM

3.32.As the Audit Commission is responsible for appointing the auditors for all audited bodies specified in the Audit Commission Act 1998, the situation where an audited body fails to appoint an auditor does not arise.

OTHER SECTORS

3.33. The Companies Act 2006 provides a default power for the Secretary of State, so that if a private company fails to appoint an auditor or auditors, the Secretary of State may appoint one or more persons to fill the vacancy. If the company fails to make the necessary appointment, the company is required to give notice to the Secretary of State that his power has become exercisable and if the

company fails to give this notice then the company has committed an offence and can be liable for a fine.

OUR PROPOSALS

3.34. The audited body would be under a duty to appoint an auditor. However, there could be some instances under the new system where a body does not fulfil this duty.

Option 1

3.35.In these circumstances we propose that the Secretary of State would be able to direct the local public body to appoint an auditor.

Option 2

3.36.Alternatively, where a local public body does not fulfil its duty to appoint an auditor the Secretary of State could be provided with the power to make the auditor appointment. In addition to meeting the cost of the appointment the local public body could be subject to a sanction for failing to make the appointment.

Q21: Which option do you consider provides a sufficient safeguard to ensure that local public bodies appoint an auditor? How would you ensure that the audited body fulfils its duty?

3.37.It would clearly be against our design principles for the new local audit framework for the Secretary of State to make the auditor appointment for local public bodies. However, some form of assurance will be required that local public bodies have fulfilled their duty to appoint an auditor.

Q22: Should local public bodies be under a duty to inform a body when they have appointed an auditor, or only if they have failed to appoint an auditor by the required date?

- 3.38. Given that we envisage that the Recognised Supervisory Bodies will hold the register of eligible local public auditors there is an argument that they should be notified if a local public body has appointed or failed to appoint an auditor. However, this could involve a significant cost.
- 3.39.As the Secretary of State would be able to direct the local public body to appoint an auditor, or could be provided with the power to make the auditor appointment where a local public body does not fulfil its duty to appoint an auditor, an alternative option would be for the local public body to notify the appropriate government department, or a body that the government department specifies, of the auditor appointment. The cost of doing this could be met by the appropriate department, and would provide an effective route for the Secretary of State to exercise his powers to direct the local public body to appoint an auditor, or to make the auditor appointment where the body did not fulfil its duty to appoint an auditor.

Q23: If notification of auditor appointment is required, which body should be notified of the auditor appointment/failure to appoint an auditor?

Rotation of audit firms and audit staff

CURRENT SYSTEM

- 3.40.The Auditing Practices Board's ethical standards, which apply to the audit of both private and public entities, require an audit firm to establish policies and procedures to monitor the length of time that audit engagement partners and other key staff serve as members of the engagement team for each audit. These procedures are in place to help ensure the independence and objectivity of auditors.
- 3.41.The Audit Commission appoints audit firms or its own staff for an initial period of five years. The audit engagement partner can then be appointed for an additional period of up to two years in accordance with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards (i.e. a maximum of seven years, provided there are no threats to the auditor's independence). The audit manager (the second in command to the audit engagement partner) can be appointed for a maximum of ten years. After this period individuals should then have no further direct relationship with or involvement in work relating to the body concerned until a further period of five years has elapsed.

OTHER SYSTEMS

- 3.42.In the case of listed companies, the audit firm must have policies and procedures so that:
 - no-one shall act as audit engagement partner for more than seven years and
 - anyone who has acted as the audit engagement partner for a particular entity for a period of seven years, shall not subsequently participate in the audit engagement with that entity until a further period of five years has elapsed
- 3.43. The audit committee of a company assesses the independence and objectivity of the external auditor annually, taking into consideration regulatory and professional requirements. This assessment involves a consideration of all relationships between the company and the audit firm (including the provision of non-audit services) and any safeguards established by the external auditor. The audit committee seeks from the audit firm, on an annual basis, information about policies and processes for maintaining independence and monitoring compliance with relevant requirements, including current requirements regarding the rotation of audit partners and staff.

OUR PROPOSALS

- 3.44. We envisage that the new audit framework would be in line with the current ethical standards regarding the rotation of staff within the audit firm.
- 3.45. The audited body's audit committee would have a role in monitoring the independence and objectivity of the body's external auditor.

- 3.46.In relation to the rotation of the firm, an audit firm would be reappointed annually by the full council on the advice of the audit committee (who may want to provide advice on the quality of service received in the previous year) but the audited body could be required to undertake a competitive appointment process within five years. The audited body would be able to re-appoint the same firm for a second consecutive five year period, following competition.
- 3.47.To preserve independence, we propose that the audited body would need to procure a different audit firm at the end of the second five year period. This will help to ensure that in carrying out their responsibilities auditors are not influenced by their desire to secure re-appointment.

Q24: Should any firm's term of appointment be limited to a maximum of two consecutive five-year periods?

Q25: Do the ethical standards provide sufficient safeguards for the rotation of the engagement lead and the audit team for local public bodies? If not, what additional safeguards are required?

Q26: Do the proposals regarding the reappointment of an audit firm strike the right balance between allowing the auditor and audited body to build a relationship based on trust whilst ensuring the correct degree of independence?

Resignation or removal of an auditor

CURRENT SYSTEM

- 3.48.In the current situation there is not a direct contractual relationship between the auditor and the audited body the relationship is with the Audit Commission. It is therefore not possible for the audited body to remove the auditor and the auditor does not need to resign because of issues arising with the audit.
- 3.49.In the event that there was a breakdown in the relationship between the auditor and audited body the Audit Commission can consider rotating suppliers.
- 3.50. The audit engagement partner or audit team may change during the appointment and the Audit Commission can and does rotate between firms and its in-house practice undertaking the audit, including if the audited body requests it.

OTHER SECTORS

Resignation

- 3.51.In the companies sector, if an auditor ceases for any reason to hold office, he must deposit a statement at the company's registered office which will usually set out the circumstances connected with his ceasing to hold office. If the circumstances are set out in the statement (in the case of a quoted company), the company must send a copy of the statement to all members of the company unless it makes a successful application to the court to stop this.
- 3.52.If (in the case of an unquoted company) the circumstances are not set out in the statement, the auditor must deposit a statement with the company to that effect but the company does not have to circulate this statement to its members.
- 3.53. When an external auditor resigns, the audit committee of the company will investigate the issues giving rise to such resignation and consider whether any action is required.

Removal

3.54. The members of a company may remove an auditor from office at any time during their term of office. They, or the directors, must give 28 days notice of their intention to put to a general meeting a resolution to remove the auditor. The company must send a copy of the notice to the auditor, who then sends it to the company's members. The auditor may speak at the meeting where the resolution is to be considered. Although a company may remove an auditor from office at any time, the auditor may be entitled to compensation or damages for termination of appointment.

OUR PROPOSALS

- 3.55.We envisage that a body might wish to remove its auditor, or an auditor might wish to resign, only in exceptional circumstances, for example, an auditor being in breach of the ethical standards, or a complete breakdown in the relationship between the auditor and audited body.
- 3.56. However, we recognise the importance of having stringent safeguards in place for the resignation and removal of an auditor to protect the independence of the auditor and the quality of the audit. These safeguards would broadly mirror those in the Companies Act, but would be adapted to reflect the principles of public audit. The process would be designed to ensure that auditors are not removed, or do not resign, without serious consideration.

Resignation

3.57.We envisage that in the first instance, the audited body and the auditor should discuss and seek to resolve any concerns. If the auditor still wished to resign he should give 28 days written notice of his intention to the audit committee and the audited body, setting out his intention to resign. The audited body should then make a written response, which it should send with the auditor's written notice, to its members and the audit committee. The auditor will then be required to deposit a statement at the audited body's main office and with the audit committee, which should be published on its website. The statement

- would set out the circumstances connected with the resignation of the office that are relevant to the business of the audited body.
- 3.58. The audited body would need to notify the body responsible for maintaining the register of appointed auditors, and the auditor will need to notify the appropriate regulatory supervisory body. We envisage a role for the audit committee and the regulatory supervisory body in investigating the issues that have led to the resignation and considering whether any action is required.

Removal

- 3.59. Again, we envisage that in the first instance, the audited body and the auditor should discuss and seek to resolve any concerns. If the audited body still wished to remove its auditor, it should give 28 days written notice of its intention to the audit committee and to the auditor. The audited body should put to a public meeting, or full council meeting, a resolution to remove the auditor. The audited body would also send a copy of this notice to the auditor.
- 3.60. The auditor would then have the right to make a written response, which the body would need to send to its members and the audit committee, and to speak at the meeting where the resolution is to be considered. A representative from the audit committee should also be able to speak at the meeting. The auditor would be required to deposit a statement at the audited body's main office and with the audit committee, which would need to be published on its website. This statement would set out the circumstances connected with the cessation of their office that are relevant to the business of the audited body.
- 3.61. The audited body would need to notify the appropriate regulatory supervisory body. We envisage a role for the audit committee and the regulatory supervisory body in investigating the issues that have led to the removal and considering whether any action is required.
- 3.62.A right of access to the previous auditor's audit working papers (from the previous year and/or current) should be provided to incoming auditors in cases of resignation or removal or any other instances where the audit firm changes. This right should extend to all aspects of the previous auditor's responsibilities and not just to work on the audit of the financial statements.

Q27: Do you think this proposed process provides sufficient safeguard to ensure that auditors are not removed, or resign, without serious consideration, and to maintain independence and audit quality? If not, what additional safeguards should be in place?

Auditor liability

3.63.In the private sector, auditors are concerned about the consequences of the risks of litigation, as a result of actual or perceived failing by auditors. These concerns have been fuelled by legal judgments about the extent of auditors' duty of care to third parties, such as potential investors and the banks. They have increasingly caused auditors to caveat their audit opinions by explicitly limiting their duty of care and by seeking to limit their liability. Case law has established that the duty of care of auditors appointed by the Commission is to the audited body itself and not to third parties. Public authorities can sue their auditor for breach of duty.

CURRENT SYSTEM

3.64. There are particular issues in the public sector where auditors may exercise special powers. The Audit Commission currently indemnifies auditors for the costs they incur where they are engaged in litigation arising from the exercise of such powers. This ensures that auditors are able to exercise their functions with the certainty that their costs will be met.

OTHER SECTORS

- 3.65.In the companies sector, the Companies Act provides that general provisions that protect auditors from liability for negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the company, or provide an indemnity against liability are void, but:
 - does not prevent a company from indemnifying an auditor against any costs incurred by him in defending proceedings in which judgment is given in his favour or in the granting of relief by the court in the case of honest and reasonable conduct
 - allows for a "liability limitation agreement" to be put in place if it is authorised by the members of the company, provided it complies with the content permitted in the Companies Act

OUR PROPOSALS

3.66. In the absence of a central body providing indemnity to audit firms, it could be possible for audited bodies and auditors to deal with auditor liability as part of their contractual negotiations. A legislative framework, similar to that in the companies sector, could set out the process for setting and agreeing liability limitation agreements. Without a liability agreement, audit firms may increase their fees to match the increased risk they face in undertaking their work.

Q28: Do you think the new framework should put in place similar provision as that in place in the companies sector, to prevent auditors from seeking to limit their liability in an unreasonable way?

Section 4

4. Scope of audit and the work of auditors

4.1. In this chapter, we look at the scope of the audit and the options for the elements of local public bodies' finance and the arrangements that auditors should assess. The duty for the auditor to issue a report in the public interest is also considered. This section asks whether auditors should be able to carry out additional, non-audit, work for the audited body, and considers the various safeguards that could be introduced to ensure that auditor independence is not compromised.

Scope of local public audit

4.2. The starting point is the principles of public audit, in particular the wide scope of the audit covering the audit of financial statements, regularity and propriety and value for money.

CURRENT SYSTEM

- 4.3. Public sector accounting in the UK has recently moved to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards adapted as necessary for the public sector (for local government audits from 2010-11).
- 4.4. Currently, the auditor of larger local public bodies is required to:
 - give an opinion on whether the accounting statements give a true and fair view of the audited body's financial position and of its income and expenditure
 - provide a conclusion as to whether the body has proper arrangements for securing value for money, having regard to specified criteria (such as financial resilience and to regularity and propriety) and in accordance with guidance issued by the Commission
 - review and report on as appropriate, other information published with the financial statements, including the statement on internal control/annual governance statement and the remuneration report and
 - (for local government) review and report on the Whole of Government Accounts return
- 4.5. Smaller local public bodies are currently subject to a limited assurance regime. We believe that it is important for smaller bodies to continue to be dealt with proportionately under the new framework and discuss this in more detail at Section 5.

OTHER SECTORS

Companies

4.6. The scope of audit for companies is based around the financial statements produced by the company and a report that the directors are required to produce which must describe the company's principal activities, a review of the business and an indication of future developments.

- 4.7. Statutory auditors of companies include in their report, statements as to whether, in their opinion:
 - the accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006
 - the accounts give a "true and fair " view of the company's financial statements
 - the director's report is consistent with the accounts
 - the remuneration report is properly prepared

Charities

- 4.8. Any charity which has income above the audit threshold in the financial year must have an audit of its financial statements undertaken by a registered auditor. This is in line with the treatment of companies.
- 4.9. The Charities Act 1993 also requires all registered charities to prepare a Trustees' Annual Report. The length of the report and the amount of detail included in it can be in proportion to the charity's size so for small charities it can be a very simple report.

Central government

- 4.10. The Comptroller and Auditor General, with the support of the National Audit Office, is responsible for auditing the financial statements of all central Government departments, executive agencies and a wide range of other public sector bodies.
- 4.11. When certifying the accounts of central government departments, the Comptroller and Auditor General states whether, in his opinion:
 - the financial statements give a "true and fair" view of the financial position of the body
 - the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with underpinning legislation
 - in all material respects the transactions recorded in the financial statements are in accordance with Parliamentary or other authority (regularity)
 - information given in the Management Commentary/Annual Report is consistent with the financial statements
 - the audited part of the Remuneration Report has been properly prepared in accordance with relevant guidance
- 4.12. The Comptroller and Auditor General also has statutory authority to report to Parliament on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which departments and other bodies have used their resources.

OUR PROPOSALS

4.13. When looking at the future scope of audit for local public bodies we have considered whether we should move to a more transparent model, such as that followed by companies and charities which must produce a director or trustee's report. Central Government departments are also required to prepare an Annual Report along similar lines. However, we recognise that public money

must be accounted for in a certain way, including assuring regularity and propriety and with the necessary focus on value for money. With this in mind, for larger public bodies we have identified the following three options to deliver effective audit that conforms to the principles of public audit.

Option 1

- 4.14. The scope of audit could be reduced to be more in line with that for companies, with no assessment of value for money. The auditor would:
 - give an opinion on whether the financial statements give a true and fair view of the audited body's financial position and of its income and expenditure and
 - review, and report on as appropriate, other information published with the financial statements, including the statement on internal control/annual governance statement, the remuneration report and the whole of government accounting summarisation schedules
- 4.15. This option would reduce the information available to local citizens on how local bodies are spending their money or on whether bodies are securing value for money.

Option 2

- 4.16. As under the current system, the auditor would:
 - give an opinion on whether the financial statements give a true and fair view
 of the audited body's financial position and of its income and expenditure; and
 - provide a conclusion as to whether it has the proper arrangements in place to secure value for money (based on locally defined policy priorities) having regard to specified criteria (including financial resilience and regulatory and propriety)
 - review, and report on as appropriate, other information published with the financial statements, including the statement on internal control/annual governance statement, the remuneration report and the whole of government accounting summarisation schedules
- 4.17. This option would maintain the current scope of audit. However, this option would not provide any additional information to local citizens on how local public bodies are spending their money or on whether bodies are securing value for money.

Option 3

- 4.18. New arrangements could provide stronger assurances on the way local public bodies spend money. Under this option, the auditor would still give an **opinion** on the financial statements, but would provide **conclusions** on:
 - regularity and propriety a conclusion on compliance with relevant laws and regulations and the audited body's governance and control regime

- financial resilience a conclusion about the future financial sustainability of the audited body and
- value for money in addition to proper arrangements in place to secure value for money, a conclusion about the achievement of economy, efficiency and effectiveness within the audited body
- 4.19. We will need to consider carefully how a stronger value for money element to the audit would fit with other sectors, such as policing, who already have alternative systems for examining and reporting value for money publicly.
- 4.20.We believe that, compared to option 1 and 2, option 3 could lead to greater transparency for local citizens, and would help deliver the wide scope of public audit. It would also require a separate conclusion on regularity and propriety and financial resilience, rather than having regard to these aspects within a conclusion on value for money (as in option 2). However, the volume of work undertaken by the auditor would be significantly greater than for option 1. It is also possible that auditors would have difficulties in reaching a robust conclusion on value for money, regularity and propriety. We expect that reaching a conclusion on the achievement for value for money would involve more work for auditors, particularly in the case of complex organisations such as principal local authorities.

Option 4

- 4.21.Local public spending should be transparent so that citizens can hold bodies to account. Companies are required, by law, to produce and publish an annual report, including the principal activities of the company during the year, and a business review which includes risks and uncertainties. Most public bodies also produce such a report, although local authorities are not currently required to do so.
- 4.22.Under this option, all local public bodies would be required to produce an annual report and to publish this report on their website. The report would set out the arrangements the audited body had put in place to secure value for money, whether they had achieved economy, efficiency and effectiveness, regularity and propriety and financial resilience.
- 4.23. The auditor would be required to:
 - give an opinion on the financial statements
 - · review the audited body's annual report and
 - provide reasonable assurance on the annual report
- 4.24. The annual report could be written in an accessible way and would be published. This option could therefore substantially increase the transparency of the local public bodies, compared to options 1 and 2. Citizens' increased knowledge of the local public body's financial performance could help drive greater local accountability. We would need to consider whether producing an annual report in an appropriate format would be a new burden for local authorities that do not currently produce an annual report in an appropriate format.

4.25. Another possible benefit of this option, is that it brings the format of audit for local public bodies (financial statements and reviewing a report) more in-line with that of other sectors.

Q29: Which option would provide the best balance between costs for local public bodies, a robust assessment of value for money for the local taxpayer and provide sufficient assurance and transparency to the electorate? Are there other options?

Q30: Do you think local public bodies should be required to set out their performance and plans in an annual report? If so, why?

Q31: Would an annual report be a useful basis for reporting on financial resilience, regularity and propriety, as well as value for money, provided by local public bodies?

Q32: Should the assurance provided by the auditor on the annual report be 'limited' or 'reasonable'?

Q33: What guidance would be required for local public bodies to produce an annual report? Who should produce and maintain the guidance?

Public interest reporting

CURRENT SYSTEM

- 4.26.Under Section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998, the auditor is currently required to consider whether to issue a report in the public interest on any significant matter coming to his or her notice in the course of an audit, and to bring it to the attention of the audited body and the public. The auditor can also make written recommendations to the audited body as part of this report. The audited body has a corresponding duty to consider and respond to these reports and any recommendations that might be made. The costs of the report fall on the audited body.
- 4.27. Appointed auditors have issued 131 public interest reports since 2002, of which 13 have related to principal local authorities, 85 to parish councils, 30 to health bodies and one each to a passenger transport authority (now an integrated transport authority), a passenger transport executive, and an internal drainage board.
- 4.28.In addition to the auditor's duties to report in the public interest, they also have the power to make a recommendation requiring a public response and can issue an advisory notice to the body if they have reason to believe the body is about to or has made a decision involving the unlawful incurring of expenditure.

OTHER SECTORS

- 4.29. Although public interest reporting is a consequence of the principles of public audit, there are some similarities with processes in place in other sectors.
- 4.30. The auditor of a regulated entity generally has special reporting responsibilities in addition to the responsibility to report on financial statements. One of these special reporting responsibilities is a statutory duty to report certain information, relevant to the regulators' functions that come to the auditor's attention in the course of the audit work. This form of report is derivative in nature and is initiated by the auditor on discovery of a reportable matter.

OUR PROPOSALS

- 4.31.We consider it is important that the duty on an auditor to consider whether to make a report in the public interest should be retained. Public interest reports are a key part of the current audit system and provide a vehicle through which the public are made aware of issues of significant interest to them. This is consistent with the design principles of localism and transparency.
- 4.32. We envisage that the current publication requirements for public interest reports would be retained, as would the audited body's responsibilities to consider the report at a meeting within one month of receipt and to publish a summary of the meeting's decision.
- 4.33. The costs of public interest reports will fall on the audited body. It has been suggested that the new direct contractual relationship between the audited bodies and their auditors could have, if unchecked, an impact on the ability or willingness of the auditor to issue a public interest report. However, we believe that if suitable safeguards are put in place for the resignation or removal of auditors, this will mitigate the risk.
- 4.34. We also propose to retain the power of an auditor to make a recommendation requiring a public response and to issue an advisory notice to the body if they have reason to believe the body is about to or has made a decision involving the unlawful incurring of expenditure.

Q34: Do these safeguards also allow the auditor to carry out a public interest report without his independence or the quality of the public interest report being compromised?

Provision of non-audit services

CURRENT SYSTEM

4.35. The auditor may be best placed to carry out certain types of additional work for the audited body. Therefore, the Audit Commission allows additional work to be undertaken without prior approval from the Commission, if the auditor is satisfied that:

- performance of such work will not compromise, nor be reasonably perceived by the public to compromise, his independence and
- the value of the work in total, in any audit year, does not exceed a de minimis amount (set by the Audit Commission as the higher of £30,000 or 20 per cent of the total audit fee, excluding fees for the certification of grant claims and returns)
- 4.36. Auditors are required to establish procedures to identify and address any potential breaches of these requirements.

4.37.All such work must be:

- agreed in advance with the audited body, on the understanding that such work is discretionary and is not required to meet the auditors' statutory responsibilities and
- billed separately from the audit work

The Commission requires applications for approval to carry out work exceeding the de minimis threshold at least ten days before the start of the work.

OTHER SECTORS

- 4.38.In other sectors, such as the companies sector, statutory auditors are allowed to provide other non-audit services to the company.
- 4.39. However, the audit committee of the company has a role in considering all relationships between the company and the audit firm, including the provision of non-audit services and whether, taken as a whole and having regard to the views, as appropriate, of the external auditor, management and internal audit, those relationships appear to impair the auditor's independence and objectivity.
- 4.40.The audit committee should also develop and recommend to the board the company's policy in relation to the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, and keep the policy under review. The audit committee's objective should be to ensure that the provision of such services does not impair the external auditor's independence or objectivity.

OUR PROPOSALS

- 4.41.We propose that auditors will be able to provide non-audit services to the audited body, but safeguards will be built into the system to prevent any actual or perceived threats to the auditor's independence. We recognise that by adding a number of safeguards into the system we could reduce the number of auditors eligible for appointment to an audited body, which would in turn affect competition.
- 4.42. We propose that auditors should continue to adhere to the ethical standards produced by the Auditing Practices Board and permission should be sought from the audit committee who would provide advice to the body on whether non-audit work should be undertaken as well as continuing to monitor the relationship between the auditor and the audited body.

Q35: Do you agree that auditors appointed to a local public body should also be able to provide additional audit-related or other services to that body?

Q36: Have we identified the correct balance between safeguarding auditor independence and increasing competition? If not, what safeguards do you think would be appropriate?

Public interest disclosure

CURRENT SYSTEM

- 4.43.Under the current framework, the Audit Commission and appointed auditors are prescribed persons under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 for disclosures relating to "the proper conduct of public business, value for money, fraud and corruption in local government and health service bodies". The Audit Commission and appointed auditors consider information they receive as a result of a disclosure and determine what action, if any, to take in the context of their existing statutory and professional powers and duties.
- 4.44.We recognise the importance of the roles undertaken by prescribed persons including the Audit Commission and appointed auditors. It provides reassurance to workers that it is safe and acceptable for them to raise concerns internally and sets out the circumstances where the disclosure of the malpractice outside of the organisation is in the public interest and should be protected.

The Audit Commission's role in public interest disclosure

The Audit Commission is a 'prescribed person' as set out in the Schedule to the Public Interest Disclosure Act. It exercises this role by:

- receiving the facts of a disclosure
- supporting the discloser by referring them to Public Concern at Work for further advice and guidance if subjected to victimisation or harassment;
- acknowledging receipt of the disclosure and stating in general terms what the procedures are
- forwarding information to the auditor and inform the discloser

The current role of the appointed auditor The auditor's role includes:

- evaluating the information provided by the Commission
- acknowledging receipt to the discloser, and providing an indication of the likely response, with an explanation for the decision
- undertaking appropriate audit work in response to the disclosure
- reporting the outcome of any work to the discloser and the Commission

OTHER SECTORS

4.45.The Financial Reporting Council's guidance for the audit committees of companies sets out a role for the audit committee in reviewing arrangements under which staff of the company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The audit committee's objective is to ensure that arrangements are in place for the proportionate and independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

OUR PROPOSALS

- 4.46.We believe it is important that a similar system operates in the new framework. We propose that the Audit Commission's role (receiving, acknowledging receipt of and forwarding the facts of disclosure) should be broadly transferred to the audit committee of the local public body. The audit committee may chose to designate one of its independent members as a point of contact. As this role is an administrative role, which involves no need to consider the issue they are transferring, we do not see this as an additional burden on audit committees.
- 4.47. We envisage that the statutory auditor of the local public body would continue to be a prescribed person and would continue with his/her role with no change from the current system.

Q37: Do you agree that it would be sensible for the auditor and the audit committee of the local public body to be designated prescribed persons under the Public Interest Disclosure Act? If not, who do you think would be best placed to undertake this role?

Transparency

CURRENT SYSTEM

- 4.48. Members of the public currently have rights to question the auditor of an audited body about its accounts and raise objections, if the audited body is not a health body, in respect of unlawful items of account or matters on which the auditor can make a report in the public interest. The auditor may also apply for a declaration to the Court. Objectors have the right to appeal to the Courts about an auditor's decision.
- 4.49.Auditors have only limited discretion to refuse to investigate objections, but the costs of investigating objections, which are recovered from the local public body and, therefore, funded by council taxpayers, can be disproportionate to the sums involved in the complaint, or to the normal audit costs of the local public body.
- 4.50. The right to object to the accounts was first introduced more than 150 years ago, at a time when the auditor was the only individual to whom an elector could raise issues of concern.

OUR PROPOSALS

- 4.51. The public can now raise concerns through a wide variety of appropriate avenues for redress, including the Local Government Ombudsman (in relation to maladministration) and the Information Commissioner (on matters concerning the rights that individuals have under the Freedom of Information and Data Protection Acts). Publication of all expenditure over £500 also makes spending more transparent and more readily available to the public.
- 4.52. With this in mind, we consider that the rights for local government electors to object to the accounts are both outdated and over-burdensome on auditors, local public bodies and council tax payers.
- 4.53.Under the new local audit framework, members of the public would retain the right to make representations to the auditor, raise issues with the auditor and to ask the auditor questions about the accounts.
- 4.54. While the right to make formal objections would be removed, the local public body would still be required to advertise that its accounts had been prepared and there will be increased publicity requirements for audited bodies. The auditor would still be open and transparent about the audit, and would consider any relevant representations from the public. The auditor would have discretion to decide whether to follow-up any issues raised by local citizens, having regard to the significance of the issue, the amounts of public money involved and the wider public interest. If the auditor decided not to consider a representation further, the decision would be amenable to judicial review, should the citizen who made the representation be dissatisfied with the decision.
- 4.55. We propose that auditors should also be brought within the remit of the Freedom of Information Act to the extent that they are carrying out their functions as public office holders. Therefore, only information in connection with a public audit would be within the remit of a freedom of information request. However, we recognise that there are costs associated with responding to freedom of information requests which could have an impact on audit fees. We would also need to consider whether this could be detrimental to the auditor and audited body's relationship.
- 4.56.We also envisage that local public bodies should be required to publish their accounts and the auditor's report on the website.
- 4.57. We consider that these proposals would provide a balance between transparency and disproportionate cost.

Q38: Do you agree that we should modernise the right to object to the accounts? If not, why?

Q39: Is the process set out above the most effective way for modernising the procedures for objections to accounts? If not, what system would you introduce?

Q40: Do you think it is sensible for auditors to be brought within the remit of the Freedom of Information Act to the extent of their functions as public office holders? If not, why?

Q41: What will be the impact on (i) the auditor/audited body relationship, and (ii) audit fees by bringing auditors within the remit of the Freedom of Information Act (to the extent of their functions as public office holders only)?

Section 5

5. Arrangements for smaller bodies

Current system

The limited assurance audit regime

The limited assurance audit regime was first introduced in 2001-02 for local councils (parish meetings and parish and town councils) where neither income nor expenditure exceeded £500,000. This threshold was increased to £1m in 2006.

The regime is designed specifically to minimise the audit requirement upon, and cost to, these small bodies. The audits are based on the submission by the body to the auditor of an annual return that is subject to a desk review. The audit report provides a limited level of assurance to the body commensurate with the amount of work undertaken.

The basic audit approach is common to all smaller bodies. However, for those bodies with annual income or expenditure over £200,000, auditors are required to carry out additional testing as part of their audit approach to reflect the higher risk to public funds; this is referred to as the intermediate audit. In addition, on a random sample basis, 5 per cent of those bodies operating below the £200,000 threshold will also be selected annually for intermediate audit at no extra cost.

- 5.1. Under the current legislation, the statutory audit requirements for smaller bodies are the same as those for larger bodies. However, since 2002, the Audit Commission has ensured that these are met proportionately through a separate "limited assurance" framework for bodies with an income or expenditure less than £1m. The smallest bodies currently do not pay any fees for their annual audit.
- 5.2. To bring this into line with the framework under the Companies Act the £1m threshold for local public bodies is being increased to not more than £6.5m.

OTHER SECTORS

5.3. The companies and charities sector, both have arrangements in place to ensure a more proportionate level of audit for smaller bodies.

Charities

5.4. The Charities Act 1993 put in place a system by which some small charities could be subject to independent examination rather than a full audit.

Independent Examination v Audit (Charity Sector)

The two main differences between independent examination and audit relate to:

- Who can act
- The nature of the report.

	Who can act	The nature of the Report	
Independent	An independent person who is	Provides a "negative	
Examination	reasonably believed by the body to	assurance" on the accounts.	
	have the requisite knowledge and	The independent examiner	
	practical experience to carry out a	declares that no evidence was	
	competent examination of the	found of lack of accounting	
	accounts. No specific qualification is	records, of accounts failing to	
	necessarily required but the person	comply with the records, nor of	
	must have a good understanding of	other matters that need to be	
	accounts.	disclosed.	
Audit	Must be a registered auditor	An audit report will need to	
		provide an opinion on the	
		financial statements	

5.5. The level of independent examination is dictated by the level of gross income of the charity.

Level of Gross Income	External scrutiny	Annual Report
Not exceeding £10,000	There is no requirement to have the	The trustees must
	accounts independently examined or	prepare an annual
	audited	report but it may be simplified.
Over £10,000 but not	Accounts must be subject to outside	An Annual Report
exceeding £100,000	scrutiny but trustees may choose either	must be prepared but
	independent examination or audit by a registered auditor	it may be simplified
Over £100,000 but not	Accounts must be subject to outside	An Annual Report
exceeding £500,000	scrutiny but trustees may choose either	must be prepared but
(total assets not	independent examination or audit by a	it may be simplified
exceeding £2.8m)	registered auditor.	
	If an independent examination is chosen and gross income exceeds £250,000 then the independent examiner appointed must be a member of a body specified under the 2006 Act.	
Exceeds £500,000 (or a	A statutory audit is required (subject to	A full Annual Report
charity whose gross	specified exceptions) and the accounts	must be prepared
assets exceed £2.8m	must be audited by a registered auditor.	
and gross income		
exceeds £100,000)		

- 5.6. Company charities used to be dealt with under the Companies Act 2006 system. However, from the financial year beginning on or after 1 April 2008 all charities (including company charities) are subject to the Charities Act 1993 system. The purpose of this change was to ensure that the scrutiny of small company charities was consistent with charity law requirements and in particular allowed for the independent examination of eligible small company charities.
- 5.7. Company charities which meet the Companies Act definition of a small company may elect for exemption from audit under the Companies Act and opt to have their accounts audited or independently examined under the Charities Act 1993.
- 5.8. Independent examination offers a lower cost alternative to charities that do not require the higher level of assurance that audit can provide. Changes effective from this date also result in new requirements for the audit of small groups when their accounts are prepared by parent company charities.

Companies

- 5.9. The Companies Act 2006 sets out the thresholds which must be met for a company to be deemed a small company. These are, at least two of the following three conditions:
 - annual income or expenditure (gross income for charities) not exceeding -£6,500,000
 - balance sheet total not exceeding £3,260,000
 - average numbers of employers not exceeding 50
- 5.10. These thresholds are subject to periodic amendment.
- 5.11. There is exemption from audit for **certain** small companies if they are eligible and wish to take advantage of it. To qualify for audit exemption, a company must:
 - qualify as small (per paragraph 5.9) and
 - have an income or expenditure of not more than £6.5m and
 - have a balance sheet total of not more than £3.26m.
- 5.12. Even if a small company meets these criteria, it must still have its accounts audited if this is demanded by a member or members holding at least 10 per cent of the nominal value of issued share capital or holding 10 per cent of any class of shares. Public companies are not eligible for exemption.

OUR PROPOSALS

5.13.Both the limited assurance and independent examination regimes outlined above provide a simpler, more proportionate, form of external scrutiny than a full audit, but still provide assurance that the accounts of the bodies involved have been reviewed by an independent person.

- 5.14. We aim to bring arrangements for smaller local public bodies into line with other sectors. We are therefore considering a process under which the income and expenditure of a body determines what 'level' of audit or scrutiny is required; the greater the income/expenditure, the more scrutiny is required.
- 5.15.We propose that the 1,200 or so bodies with income or expenditure less than £1,000 would not be subject to an external examination or audit, as the risk to public funds is low and any external examination or audit fees would be disproportionate to their income or expenditure. These bodies do not currently pay a fee for an audit or examination, and requiring them to now do so would clearly increase their costs.
- 5.16.Bodies with an income or expenditure between £1,000 and the upper threshold of £6.5m would be subject to an independent examination rather than a full audit.
- 5.17. Examiners of small bodies should act for a maximum period of 10 years (which is in line with the current practices of the Audit Commission).
- 5.18. We propose that the independent examination of smaller bodies should be similar to that followed in the charities sector. As we have set out above, the charities sector provides for a reduced audit for bodies with income or expenditure below £500,000. However, the Audit Commission has provided limited assurance to all bodies with income or expenditure under £1m recently raised to not more than £6.5m. We are keen to ensure that smaller bodies are not disproportionately affected by our proposals. Therefore we propose a staged model such as the model followed in the charities sector, where the level of examination and the qualifications that the independent examiner must have are based on the income or expenditure of the body. However, this staged model would reflect the current £6.5m threshold used by the Audit Commission for their limited assurance regime. The independent examination of smaller bodies might therefore look as follows:

	Number	% small bodies market	Income/Expenditure	Scrutiny
Level 1	1,200	12%	Public bodies with expenditure less than £1,000	 Existing governance and accounting arrangements Annual accounts published Positive confirmation that annual accounts have been produced and published via the precept request (or equivalent) No external audit/scrutiny
	Approx 6,400 bodies	64%	Public bodies with expenditure between £1,000 and £50,000	 (Under option 1 below) the county or unitary council to appoint an independent examiner (no specific qualifications needed, but County or unitary council should assure itself that the relevant person has the requisite experience and expertise) to assess its accounts. In practice the Section 151 officer or full council, having regard to advice provided by the audit committee, would make this appointment. The independent examiner might be an officer of the county or unitary council. The body must also publish the details of
Level 3	Approx 1,625 bodies	16%	Public bodies with expenditure between £50,000 and £250,000	the examiner. As level 2, but: Existing internal audit arrangements Independent examiner must hold a professional qualification to assess its
Level 4	Approx 675 bodies	7%	Public bodies with expenditure between £250,000 and £6.5m	accounts. As level 3, but Independent examiner must hold a professional qualification and be registered as a public auditor.

Appointing the examiner

OPTION 1

- 5.19.We consider that the appointment process for the independent examiner should be proportionate. An audit committee could be a significant cost for a smaller body. Instead, where an independent examiner is required, we propose that the county or unitary authority should be responsible for appointing the independent examiner (see table above). If smaller bodies were responsible for appointing their own examiner in the absence of an audit committee there would be a lack of independence in the appointment process. In addition, they may not achieve a good price for this service.
- 5.20.If the county or unitary authority was responsible for the appointment this would provide a degree of independence to the appointment process for smaller bodies, and they would have the ability to appoint independent examiners for all of the smaller bodies in their areas, providing the opportunity to make savings through economies of scale.

OPTION 2

5.21.The small body would be required to make arrangements for the appointment of the independent examiner, *including* the involvement of an audit committee. This would give the body the freedom to make the necessary arrangements which might include joining up with other small bodies, either locally or providing similar services. The smaller bodies would be able to arrange a joint audit committee, with safeguards to provide for independence. Alternatively, the small body would be able to join with a larger local public body and utilise their audit committee. Under this option the scope of the examination would still be as set out in the table above.

Q42: Which option provides the most proportionate approach for smaller bodies? What could happen to the fees for smaller bodies under our proposals?

Q43: Do you think the county or unitary authority should have the role of commissioner for the independent examiners for smaller bodies in their areas? Should this be the section 151 officer, or the full council having regard to advice provided by the audit committee? What additional costs could this mean for county or unitary authorities?

Q44: What guidance would be required to enable county/unitary authorities to:

- a.) Appoint independent examiners for the smaller bodies in their areas?
- b.) Outline the annual return requirements for independent examiners?

Who should produce and maintain this guidance?

Q45: Would option 2 ensure that smaller bodies appoint an external examiner, whilst maintaining independence in the appointment?

Q46: Are there other options given the need to ensure independence in the appointment process? How would this work where the smaller body, e.g. a port health authority, straddles more than one county/unitary authority?

Q47: Is the four-level approach for the scope of the examination too complex? If so, how would you simplify it? Should the threshold for smaller bodies be not more than £6.5m or £500,000? Are there other ways of dealing with small bodies, e.g. a narrower scope of audit?

Public interest reporting for smaller bodies

5.22. There would be no auditor to receive queries or objections from the public, and there would be no public interest reporting. However, if the examiner identified issues giving cause for concern we propose that these could be raised with the audited body, or the county or unitary authority. The county or unitary authority could be given the power to appoint an auditor to then carry out a public interest report on the matters raised with the audited body. Sanctions could include a power to make the next precept (partly or wholly) conditional on the matters raised being addressed.

Q48: Does this provide a proportionate, but appropriate method for addressing issues that give cause for concern in the independent examination of smaller bodies? How would this work where the county council is not the precepting authority?

Objections to accounts of smaller bodies

- 5.23. For bodies with an income or expenditure greater than £6.5 million we are proposing to modernise the system for dealing with objections to accounts.
- 5.24.In the case of smaller bodies, we propose that the independent examiner would be able to consider whether to refer issues raised by citizens to the proper officer (possibly the s151 officer) of the county or unitary authority. That authority would be provided with powers to take action, which might include appointing an auditor to consider those issues and report in public to the examined body. The costs for dealing with the representation would fall to the smaller body.

Q49: Is the process set out above the most appropriate way to deal with issues raised in relation to accounts for smaller bodies? If not, what system would you propose?

Regulatory regime for smaller bodies

- 5.25. For smaller bodies the more proportionate approach described of independent examination would not give rise to the same level of scrutiny as an external audit.
- 5.26. However, if appointing the independent examiner to the smaller body, or if provided with powers to take action, which might include appointing an auditor to carry out a public interest report, the county or unitary council would, essentially, be the regulator for this sector.

Q50: Does this provide a proportionate but appropriate system of regulation for smaller bodies? If not, how should the audit for this market be regulated?

Section 6

6. List of consultation questions

- 1. Have we identified the correct design principles? If not what other principles should be considered? Do the proposals in this document meet these design principles?
- 2. Do you agree that the audit probation trusts should fall within the Comptroller and Auditor General's regime?
- 3. Do you think that the National Audit Office would be best placed to produce the Code of audit practice and the supporting guidance?
- 4. Do you agree that we should replicate the system for approving and controlling statutory auditors under the Companies Act 2006 for statutory local public auditors?
- 5. Who should be responsible for maintaining and reviewing the register of statutory local public auditors?
- 6. How can we ensure that the right balance is struck between requiring audit firms eligible for statutory local public audit to have the right level of experience, while allowing new firms to enter the market?
- 7. What additional criteria are required to ensure that auditors have the necessary experience to be able to undertake a robust audit of a local public body, without restricting the market?
- 8. What should constitute a public interest entity (i.e. a body for which audits are directly monitored by the overall regulator) for the purposes of local audit regulation? How should these be defined?
- 9. There is an argument that by their very nature all local public bodies could be categorised as 'public interest entities.' Does the overall regulator need to undertake any additional regulation or monitoring of these bodies? If so, should these bodies be categorised by the key services they perform, or by their income or expenditure? If the latter, what should the threshold be?
- 10. What should the role of the regulator be in relation to any local bodies treated in a manner similar to public interest entities?
- 11. Do you think the arrangements we set out are sufficiently flexible to allow councils to cooperate and jointly appoint auditors? If not, how would you make the appointment process more flexible, whilst ensuring independence?
- 12. Do you think we have identified the correct criteria to ensure the quality of independent members? If not, what criteria would you suggest?

- 13. How do we balance the requirements for independence with the need for skills and experience of independent members? Is it necessary for independent members to have financial expertise?
- 14. Do you think that sourcing suitable independent members will be difficult? Will remuneration be necessary and, if so, at what level?
- 15. Do you think that our proposals for audit committees provide the necessary safeguards to ensure the independence of the auditor appointment? If so, which of the options described in paragraph 3.9 seems most appropriate and proportionate? If not, how would you ensure independence while also ensuring a decentralised approach?
- 16. Which option do you consider would strike the best balance between a localist approach and a robust role for the audit committee in ensuring independence of the auditor?
- 17. Are these appropriate roles and responsibilities for the Audit Committee? To what extent should the role be specified in legislation?
- 18. Should the process for the appointment of an auditor be set out in a statutory code of practice or guidance? If the latter, who should produce and maintain this?
- 19. Is this a proportionate approach to public involvement in the selection and work of auditors?
- 20. How can this process be adapted for bodies without elected members?
- 21. Which option do you consider provides a sufficient safeguard to ensure that local public bodies appoint an auditor? How would you ensure that the audited body fulfils its duty?
- 22. Should local public bodies be under a duty to inform a body when they have appointed an auditor, or only if they have failed to appoint an auditor by the required date?
- 23. If notification of auditor appointment is required, which body should be notified of the auditor appointment/failure to appoint an auditor?
- 24. Should any firm's term of appointment be limited to a maximum of two consecutive five-year periods?
- 25. Do the ethical standards provide sufficient safeguards for the rotation of the engagement lead and the audit team for local public bodies? If not, what additional safeguards are required?

- 26. Do the proposals regarding the reappointment of an audit firm strike the right balance between allowing the auditor and audited body to build a relationship based on trust whilst ensuring the correct degree of independence?
- 27. Do you think this proposed process provides sufficient safeguard to ensure that auditors are not removed, or resign, without serious consideration, and to maintain independence and audit quality? If not, what additional safeguards should be in place?
- 28. Do you think the new framework should put in place similar provision as that in place in the Companies sector, to prevent auditors from seeking to limit their liability in an unreasonable way?
- 29. Which option would provide the best balance between costs for local public bodies, a robust assessment of value for money for the local taxpayer and provides sufficient assurance and transparency to the electorate? Are there other options?
- 30. Do you think local public bodies should be required to set out their performance and plans in an annual report? If so, why?
- 31. Would an annual report be a useful basis for reporting on financial resilience, regularity and propriety, as well as value for money, provided by local public bodies?
- 32. Should the assurance provided by the auditor on the annual report be 'limited' or 'reasonable'?
- 33. What guidance would be required for local public bodies to produce an annual report? Who should produce and maintain the guidance?
- 34. Do these safeguards also allow the auditor to carry out a public interest report without his independence or the quality of the public interest report being compromised?
- 35. Do you agree that auditors appointed to a local public body should also be able to provide additional audit-related or other services to that body?
- 36. Have we identified the correct balance between safeguarding auditor independence and increasing competition? If not, what safeguards do you think would be appropriate?
- 37. Do you agree that it would be sensible for the auditor and the audit committee of the local public body to be designated prescribed persons under the Public Interest Disclosure Act? If not, who do you think would be best placed to undertake this role?
- 38. Do you agree that we should modernise the right to object to the accounts? If not, why?

- 39. Is the process set out above the most effective way for modernising the procedures for objections to accounts? If not, what system would you introduce?
- 40. Do you think it is sensible for auditors to be brought within the remit of the Freedom of Information Act to the extent of their functions as public office holders? If not, why?
- 41. What will be the impact on (i) the auditor/audited body relationship, and (ii) audit fees by bringing auditors within the remit of the Freedom of Information Act (to the extent of their functions as public office holders only)?
- 42. Which option provides the most proportionate approach for smaller bodies? What could happen to the fees for smaller bodies under our proposals?
- 43. Do you think the county or unitary authority should have the role of commissioner for the independent examiners for smaller bodies in their areas? Should this be the section 151 officer, or the full council having regard to advice provided by the audit committee? What additional costs could this mean for county or unitary authorities?
- 44. What guidance would be required to enable county/unitary authorities to:
 - a.) Appoint independent examiners for the smaller bodies in their areas?
 - b.) Outline the annual return requirements for independent examiners? Who should produce and maintain this guidance?
- 45. Would option 2 ensure that smaller bodies appoint an external examiner, whilst maintaining independence in the appointment?
- 46. Are there other options given the need to ensure independence in the appointment process? How would this work where the smaller body, e.g. a port health authority, straddles more than one county/unitary authority?
- 47. Is the four-level approach for the scope of the examination too complex? If so, how would you simplify it? Should the threshold for smaller bodies be not more than £6.5m or £500,000? Are there other ways of dealing with small bodies, e.g. a narrower scope of audit?
- 48. Does this provide a proportionate, but appropriate method for addressing issues that give cause for concern in the independent examination of smaller bodies? How would this work where the county council is not the precepting authority?
- 49. Is the process set out above the most appropriate way to deal with issues raised in relation to accounts for smaller bodies? If not, what system would you propose?
- 50. Does this provide a proportionate but appropriate system of regulation for smaller bodies? If not, how should the audit for this market be regulated?

Appendix A

Audited bodies' published accounts – current arrangements

The annual accounting statements that audited bodies, other than NHS bodies and probation bodies, are currently required to publish are prescribed in Accounts and Audit Regulations made under section 27 of the Audit Commission Act 1998. A new consolidated set of the regulations has recently been issued. The accounting statements for all the bodies must cover the year ending on 31 March.

The larger bodies (broadly those with annual income or expenditure of more than £6.5m) must produce a "statement of accounts", based, as from the 2010-11 financial year, on International Financial Reporting Standards as those standards are applied by the *Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom*, published by CIPFA/LASAAC. The statement must also conform to specific requirements set out in the Accounts and Audit Regulations and other legislation. A statement of accounts includes all the elements that would be expected in a comprehensive set of accounts, including:

- movement in reserves statement
- comprehensive income and expenditure account
- balance sheet
- · cash flow statement, and
- supporting notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies

Where the body has significant subsidiaries or associates Group Accounts must also be included. The statement of accounts is accompanied by a statement of internal control or annual governance statement, setting out the body's annual assessment of how it is managing and controlling the risks it faces in achieving its aims and legal obligations.

The smaller bodies are given a choice on the form of their annual accounting statements. They can prepare either:

- a statement of accounts on the same basis as a larger body or
- an income and expenditure account and statement of balances or
- where the body's annual income or expenditure is no more than £200,000, a record of receipts and payments

For the second and third options the requirements are specified in an Annual Return that the body is required to present to the auditor and publish. The form of the Annual Return is laid out in *Governance and Accountability for Local Councils, a Practitioners' Guide*, available from the National Association of Local Councils.

The accounting statements for both the larger and smaller bodies must be audited (for smaller bodies the audit is a 'limited assurance' - a simpler, more proportionate, form of external scrutiny than a full audit). The statements, together with the auditor's opinion on them, must then be published, and this should be done by 30 September following the financial year end. The larger bodies are required to publish the statements on their websites, and the smaller bodies by displaying them within their area, though both are free to use other means of publication in addition.

Appendix B

List of bodies to which the Audit Commission appoints auditors in England

The audit bodies which are specified in primary legislation are³:

- A local authority (meaning a county council, district council, London borough council and a parish council).
- A joint authority (which means an authority established by Part 4 of the Local Government Act 1985, includes metropolitan county fire and rescue authorities).
- The Greater London Authority.
- Passenger Transport Executive.
- A functional body (meaning Transport for London, the London Development Agency, the Metropolitan Police Authority and the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority).
- The London Pensions Fund Authority.
- The London Waste and Recycling Board.
- A parish meeting of a parish not having a separate parish council.
- A committee of a local authority, including a joint committee of two or more such authorities.
- The Council of the Isles of Scilly.
- Any Charter Trustees constituted under section 246 of the Local Government Act 1972.
- A Health Service Body prepared under paragraph 3(1) of Schedule 15 to the National Health Service Act 2006.
- A Port Health Authority constituted under section 2 of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984.
- The Broads Authority.
- A national park authority.
- A conservation board established by order under section 86 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.
- A police authority established under section 3 of the Police Act 1996.
- A fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme under Section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of that Act applies.
- An authority established for an area in England by an order under section 207 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (joint waste authorities).
- A licensing planning committee.
- An internal drainage board.
- A local probation board established under section 4 of the Criminal Justice and Court Services Act.

³ It is proposed through the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill that police and crime commissioners and chief constables will be added to schedule 2 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and thereby become a body for which the Audit Commission will appoint auditors to. In addition, the Health Bill refers to GP Consortia being brought within the Audit Commission Act 1998.

- A probation trust.
- An economic prosperity board established under section 88 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.
- A combined authority established under section 103 of that Act.
- The accounts of the collection fund of the Common Council and the accounts of the City fund.
- The accounts relating to the superannuation fund maintained and administered by the Common Council under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1995.

Appendix C

Recognised supervisory bodies and recognised qualifying bodies in England

In the companies sector, audit firms must be registered with, and subject to supervision by a recognised supervisory body and persons responsible for company audit work at a firm must hold a recognised qualification awarded by a recognised qualifying body.

There are currently five recognised supervisory bodies:

- Association of Authorised Public Accountants
- Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
- Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
- Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland
- Institute of Chartered Accountants in Scotland

and six recognised qualifying bodies:

- Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
- Association of International Accountants
- Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
- Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
- Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland
- Institute of Chartered Accountants in Scotland

Department for Communities and Local Government © Crown Copyright, March 2011

ISBN: 978 1 4098 2933 1

Audit Committee 21 April 2011

Future of local public audit (supplementary paper)

Draft of suggested responses to the '50' questions

Q No.	Issue	Suggested Response
1	Design principles	The principles are sound. Arguably, however, the consultation paper falls short of meeting those principles. Members may feel the proposals for audit committees comprising a majority of non-elected members is unnecessary and a step too far. Some of the proposals for audit committees are inconsistent with the principle of localism.
2	Probation Trust audits	Yes, the council agrees.
3	Who should produce a Code of Practice?	Yes, the council believes the NAO is the most appropriate organisation to produce the Code of Practice.
4	Registration of auditors	Yes
5	Who should maintain register of statutory local public auditors?	The Council believes the Financial Reporting Council should maintain and review the register of statutory local public auditors.
6	Balancing audit experience with entry to the audit market	The new firms must be able to demonstrate their ability thorough their track record in other audited sectors and through their structures and the qualifications and skills of their staff; while displaying a sound awareness of the principles of public audit.
7	Any additional criteria for the appointment of audit firms?	The council believes that a reasonable understanding of the local context of a local public body is an important criterion for auditors. We do not believe this would unfairly restrict the market, as audit firms should be expected to familiarise themselves with the local context of a prospective client at the time of expressing an interest in contracting for its audit work.

8	Public interest entity – definition	The whole issue of PIEs and impacts for public bodies and auditors needs to be understood further before responding
9	PIE – any additional regulation?	
10	Role of regulator in relation to any local bodies treated as PIEs?	
11	Joint procurement of auditors	Yes, the council believes the proposals provide sufficient flexibility in principle for collaboration and joint procurements by local public bodies.
12	Criteria for independent members	There is no mention of relevant financial (accounting or auditing) experience in the criteria, which otherwise are sound.
13	Skills for independent examiners	Yes, the council believes it is necessary for independent members to have relevant financial expertise.
14	Will IE remuneration be needed?	First the council supports the principle of non-elected members playing a part in audit committees of local public bodies, but disagrees with the proposal that non-elected representatives should form the majority of audit committees' members. The council believes that insufficient evidence has been gathered about the role and effectiveness of audit committees, particularly within local government, and therefore the proposal in the consultation paper is unjustified and a step too far. The council feels it should be for local pubic bodies to decide the proportion of non-elected members to the total size of their audit committees. This said the council believes it may be difficult to source the numbers of independent members needed. Much will depend on the scope of audit work (whether narrow or wide). Yes, the council believes some form of remuneration will be needed and that this should be the subject of recommendations by councils' Independent Remuneration Panels.

15	Audit Committees	The council believes the principle of localism should permit local public bodies to determine the level of non-elected representatives for their audit committees, as well as deciding whether the chair of the committee should be a non-elected or elected member. So, the council is not able to support the options listed in Paragraph 3.9, though agrees with the principle of non-elected member representation on audit committees. The council believes that 'independence' in the appointment of the auditor will be achieved through a
		recommendation of the audit committee (with some non-elected representation) to the Full Council, where there will be opportunities for public input and questioning, as well as debate if needed.
16	Audit Committee roles	On the basis of the council's views about the composition of members to audit committees, the council believes that Option 2 (the wider mandatory role) should be adopted. This role fits well with the current role of the audit committee.
17	Are the roles appropriate?	Yes the roles are appropriate and should be specified in legislation.
18	Should Code specify how auditors are appointed?	Yes, and the council believes the NAO should maintain the Code
19	Public involvement in auditor appointment	Yes, the council supports the proposal for public involvement in the selection and work of the auditor.
20	Public involvement for other public bodies	Noted
21	Failure to appoint an auditor	Option 2 is supported by the council. The S151 Officer could be given the responsibility to ensure the council makes the appointment and that this be made by Full Council and reported accordingly.
22	Duty to inform when auditor appointed	Yes, the council agrees it will be necessary for local public bodies to inform a body of the appointment, otherwise the Secretary of State's role to step in and appoint will be impossible to operate. The alternative is to place the S151 Officer with the responsibility to inform should the local body fail to appoint.

23	Who is informed?	Yes, the relevant Government department; CLG in the case of local authorities
24	Rotation of audit firms	Yes, it is sensible to limit a term of appointment and the council agrees to a <u>maximum</u> of two consecutive five year terms.
25	Are current ethical standards for rotation sufficient?	Yes, the council believes the current ethical standards provide sufficient safeguards.
26	Requirement to change audit firm after two terms (ten years)	Yes, the council supports the proposal to limit an audit firms engagement to a maximum of two consecutive five-year terms.
27	Resignation and removal of auditors	Yes, the council is satisfied the proposed process is appropriate and provides adequate safeguards for auditors and their clients.
28	Safeguarding against auditors unreasonably limiting their liability	Further consideration of this point needed before responding.
29 30	Scope of audit work	Note for members: This is one of the more fundamental questions in the consultation paper and requires careful consideration. There are four options given:
31		Option 1 - limit the external audit to a review of the financial statements, with no assessment of value
32		for money.
33		Option 2 – opinion of the financial statements (including the annual governance statement), plus a conclusion on value for money arrangements.
		Option 3 – opinion on the financial statements, plus conclusions on: regularity and governance, financial resilience, value for money (similar to the current scope).

		Option 4 – opinion on the financial statements, plus a requirement for local public bodies to publish an annual report which the auditor would review and give a conclusion on the level of assurance the report provides. Option 4 has merit and places larger local public bodies in a similar position to companies. It need not be seen as a new burden, but as a positive aid to transparency. Councils should have flexibility to consider the format of reports, but some guidance will be necessary to govern minimum content. Option 3 is similar to the current scope. CLG is concerned that the cost would be greater than Options 1 or 2.
		If the scope of audit is limited to the financial statements, the council would need to think about how it may provide assurance to residents about value for money and the strength of its governance arrangements. Using the councils discretion these would likely become roles for the audit or overview and scrutiny committees.
34	Public interest reporting	Yes, the council believes the ability for auditors to report in the public interest should be retained, and the council does not feel the auditor's independence will be compromised as a result; subject to the safeguards referred to elsewhere in the consultation paper.
35	Provision of non-audit services	Yes, the council believes it would be appropriate for audit committees to consider any proposal to use the auditor for any out-of-audit scope work, and that councils should be advised to follow their
36		procurement arrangements and standing orders so as not to limit the ability for other firms to be invited. The Council may choose to limit the quantum and value of non-audit services to ensure that they do not impact on the key requirement to provide an independent audit.
37	Public interest disclosure – 'whistleblowing'	Yes, the council believes that both the audit firm and audit committee should be designated 'prescribed persons' under the Public Interest Disclosure Act.

38 39 40 41	Transparency – modernising the public's right to object to the accounts	Yes, the council believes modernising a right that was first introduced 150 years ago is long overdue. We agree that transparency and the FoI Act provide many opportunities for residents to seek information and raise concerns. It is also reasonable for auditors to be brought within the scope of the FoI Act, to the extent they are carrying out functions as public office holders. However, the council does have some concerns about the implications for audit fees, and whether in practice modernising the right to object results in more work for auditors rather than less.
42	Audit arrangements for smaller public bodies – eg. parish councils. Which option would the council support?	Responding to this question should take account of the views of parish councils — we will consult with parishes prior to the response deadline. Independent examination is suggested for parish councils with income or expenditure greater than £1,000 and less than £6.5 million. So the bulk of parish councils would receive an IE rather than the limited assurance audit (a desk-top review by the AC) they currently receive. An IE would be appropriate for most parish councils, but some larger parishes may feel a fuller audit is more appropriate. If so, a discretion should be available. Limited assurance audits by the AC currently are charges to parish councils according to a sliding scale, based in income or expenditure (whichever is the greater). For parishes where this is less that £1k there is no fee, where income/expenditure is typically in the £10k to 25k range the fee is £135. The highest fee for a parish will be a £550 fee payable by Tenterden Town Council. The maximum fee for a parish or town council is £2,500, payable where income or expenditure is in the range of £750k to £1million. With IE it will be for parishes to determine an appropriate fee. It is unclear whether this will give rise to greater or lesser costs, though with low fees paid currently it is easy to see a possible increase in cost to parish councils.
43	Should the county council (or unitary) commission independent examiners for small bodies?	The council does not agree that county councils are best placed to perform this role, and if they did it could be burdensome given the numbers of parish councils here in Kent. District councils should be considered as commissioners as generally they have greater contact with and awareness of local parish councils and their work and circumstances. But we see parish councils themselves having input to the commissioning process, for parish councils may wish to nominate appropriate persons to be considered. Indeed, in answer to the point raised in Question 45 the council believes it could be appropriate for parish councils who wish to carry out the commissioning role to do so and utilise the District Council's audit committee for this purpose.

		The council believes that section 151 officers could perform the role acting on advice from the audit committee. There are likely to be additional costs associated with placing of adverts and relative to the IE costs
		could be significant.
44	What guidance is required to commissioning bodies for IE appointments	The council believes the NAO should produce and maintain guidance, though much of this is currently in place as reflected in the consultation paper. The annual return requirements could mirror the arrangements currently in place from the Audit Commission.
45	Parish councils appointing an IE	This council believes that parishes that wish to appoint an IE should have the ability to do so, but be permitted to use the District Council's audit committee for the purposes of maintaining oversight. There will be some parish councils that may not have the capacity to carry out this role and in these cases may look to the District Council to appoint on their behalf, but be consulted about a recommendation. The council believes that only some parishes would have the capacity and scale of work to create and justify an audit committee.
46	Are there other options to ensure independence?	In responding to Q 45 the council has put forward an alternative.
47	Is the four-level approach to IE too complex?	No, it's not too complex. Again the council would suggest that District councils are involved in commissioning rather than county councils in two-tier areas. However, the suggestion that a larger council's officer may act as an IE for say a parish council might not be seen as creating the independence needed, given that larger councils will provide support to parishes. Under localism the trend of parish and larger councils working together will increase. One option would be to allow an officer of a larger council to be an IE, but in circumstances where they are not closely involved with the activities of the parish council or in collaborative work involving the parish and district/county councils. This might be achieved through using the resources of internal audit teams, subject to their own capacity. For the higher levels of IE the council believes it is necessary for the IE to hold a relevant professional qualification and be experienced in financial or audit work.

48	Public interest reporting for smaller bodies	The council believes that matters of public interest relating to smaller public bodies should be raised with the audited body and the District Council's audit committee. The District Council's audit committee could decide whether to appoint an auditor, and have the ability to determine any appropriate conditions or sanctions for the smaller local public body.
49	Objections to the accounts of smaller public bodies	Subject to replacing district for county council, this council agrees the proposal is appropriate.
50	Regulatory regime for smaller bodies	Subject to replacing district council for county council this council believes it is appropriate for larger councils to act as the regulatory body for smaller public bodies.